The Senate

Standing Committee on Community Affairs

A matter relating to the PET Review of 2000

June 2008

#### © Commonwealth of Australia 2008

ISBN 978-0-642-71867-9

Senate Community Affairs Committee Secretariat:

Mr Elton Humphery (Secretary)

Ms Christine McDonald (Principal Research Officer)

Mr Owen Griffiths (Senior Research Officer)

Ms Leonie Peake (Research Officer)

Ms Ingrid Zappe (Executive Assistant)

The Senate Parliament House Canberra ACT 2600

Phone: 02 6277 3515 Fax: 02 6277 5829

E-mail: community.affairs.sen@aph.gov.au Internet: http://www.aph.gov.au/senate\_ca

This document was produced by the Senate Community Affairs Committee Secretariat and printed by the Senate Printing Unit, Parliament House, Canberra.

# MEMBERSHIP OF THE COMMITTEE

# 42<sup>nd</sup> Parliament

#### **Members**

Senator Claire Moore, Chair ALP, Queensland

Senator Gary Humphries, Deputy Chair LP, Australian Capital Territory

LP, Western Australia Senator Judith Adams

Senator Lyn Allison AD, Victoria Senator Carol Brown ALP, Tasmania Senator Sue Boyce LP, Queensland

Senator Kate Lundy ALP, Australian Capital Territory

Senator Helen Polley ALP, Tasmania

# **Participating Members**

Senator Christine Milne AG, Tasmania

# 41<sup>st</sup> Parliament

#### **Members**

Senator Gary Humphries, Chairman LP, Australian Capital Territory

Senator Claire Moore, Deputy Chair ALP, Queensland

LP, Western Australia Senator Judith Adams

Senator Lyn Allison AD, Victoria

Senator Sue Boyce [from 9.5.07] LP, Queensland Senator Carol Brown

ALP, Tasmania

Senator Concetta Fierravanti-Wells [until 9.5.07] LP, New South Wales

Senator the Hon Kay Patterson LP, Victoria Senator Helen Polley ALP, Tasmania

# Participating Member for the inquiry

Senator Christine Milne AG, Tasmania

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

MEMBERSHIP OF THE COMMITTEE	iii
PREFACE	vii
A MATTER RELATING TO THE POSITRON EMISSION TOMOGR REVIEW OF 2000	
THE INQUIRY	1
BACKGROUND	2
Positron Emission Tomography (PET)	2
The Medical Services Advisory Committee (MSAC) The review of PET	
ISSUES	14
Changes to Supporting Committee document	15
Views of other MSAC Supporting Committee members	18
The independence of MSAC	20
Dissenting views in Supporting Committee	22
Withdrawal of the report / publishing of an errata note	24
Department of Health and Ageing	26
The role of MSAC	28
CONCLUSION	28
MINORITY REPORT BY SENATORS MILNE AND ALLISON	33
THE INQUIRY	33
BACKGROUND	34
Positron Emission Tomography (PET)	34
The Medical Services Advisory Committee (MSAC)	
The review of PET	36
ISSUES	46
Changes to Supporting Committee document	47
Views of other MSAC Supporting Committee members	50
The independence of MSAC	52
Dissenting views in Supporting Committee	54
Withdrawal of the report / publishing of an errata note	56
Department of Health and Ageing	
The role of MSAC	
CONCLUSION	61
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS BY SENATOR MILNE	67

APPENDIX 1	
LIST OF PUBLIC AND TABLED DOCUMENTS AUTHORISED FOR	
PUBLICATION BY THE COMMITTEE	.77
APPENDIX 2	
PUBLIC HEARINGS	.79

# **PREFACE**

This inquiry has occupied the Committee for a considerable period of time, due primarily to the large volume of information that was generated during the inquiry and the Committee concurrently undertaking a large number of inquiries that had been referred by the Senate. The genesis of the inquiry is outlined at the start of the report.

The considerable volume of information and evidence provided to the Committee was indicative of the considerable passion that has been aroused by this matter surrounding the PET Review of 2000 and subsequent events. To ensure that all the evidence is on the public record, the Committee has authorised the publication of all the PET related information and correspondence that it received and tabled this evidence with the report.

The passage of time since the 2000 Review has resulted in very strongly held views being formed and these were expressed in evidence.

Committee members accepted these views and interpretations of events to differing degrees. Often they were not assisted in their deliberations by the extant records and minutes of meetings at the time not recording actual decisions and discussions.

This report is therefore in two main parts. The first report outlines the extent of agreement of the majority of the Committee. The minority report uses the same report as its base and adds further comments as agreed to by Senators Milne and Allison.

# A MATTER RELATING TO THE POSITRON EMISSION TOMOGRAPHY (PET) REVIEW OF 2000

# THE INQUIRY

- 1.1 In January 2006 the Senate Community Affairs Committee (the Committee) received correspondence from Dr Robert Ware raising a number of issues relating to the assessment of PET by the Medical Services Advisory Committee (MSAC) in 2000 and requesting an inquiry into 'the conduct of the Government's PET scanning policy since 1999'. Issues associated with PET and the MSAC Review in 2000 had been the subject of questions by Senators during the Committee's estimates hearings over a period of time. In his correspondence, Dr Ware contended that the Department of Health and Ageing (the Department) had 'submitted, and then failed to retract, false information' in response to a question on notice during estimates proceedings.
- 1.2 The Committee agreed that, with an allegation of misleading evidence, it would hold a hearing to enable the issues in Dr Ware's correspondence to be raised and responded to by the Department. The Committee considered the matter at a public hearing in Canberra on 28 April 2006. This hearing generated a substantial volume of information and documents being provided to the Committee that required detailed assessment. The Committee considered that further hearings on this matter would be needed and these were held on 30 March 2007 and 14 June 2007. Members of the Committee also inspected the PET facilities at the Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre in East Melbourne on 22 August 2007.
- 1.3 The Committee's concern in this matter was whether false information had been given during the estimates proceedings and whether the processes used to make the decisions on the use and the funding of PET were appropriate, and reflected the contributions of people on the various expert committees. The Committee was not inquiring into the clinical value of PET or whether PET should have been viewed as clinically effective when it was first assessed by MSAC in 1999-2000.
- 1.4 A list of the documents authorised for publication by the Committee is at Appendix 1. A list of the witnesses who gave evidence at the hearings is available at Appendix 2. The Hansard transcript of evidence may be accessed through the Hansard website at <a href="http://www.aph.gov.au/hansard/">http://www.aph.gov.au/hansard/</a>.

<sup>1</sup> Correspondence from Dr Robert Ware, dated 26.1.06, p. 1.

#### **BACKGROUND**

# Positron Emission Tomography (PET)

1.5 Positron Emission Tomography (PET) is a diagnostic imaging technology that uses short-lived radioisotopes to enable the non-invasive imaging of metabolic functions within the body. To conduct the scan a short-lived radioactive tracer isotope, which decays by emitting a positron and which has been chemically incorporated into a metabolically active molecule, is injected into a patient. The molecule most commonly used for this purpose is fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG). While computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) primarily provide information about anatomical structure, PET can image and quantify biochemical and/or physiological function. PET can be used as a means of diagnosis for a range of clinical conditions, including many cancers. The widespread use of PET is limited by the costs of cyclotrons required to produce the materials used for PET scanning as well as the need for trained staff and specialised equipment.

#### The Medical Services Advisory Committee (MSAC)

- 1.6 The Medical Services Advisory Committee (formerly the Medicare Services Advisory Committee), or MSAC is the main body responsible for assessing medical technology in Australia. Most MSAC members are appointed by the Minister, and are selected on the basis of their expertise and standing in medicine or health economics.
- 1.7 The then Minister for Health and Family Services<sup>2</sup>, Dr Michael Wooldridge, established MSAC in April 1998, replacing the Australian Health Technology Advisory Committee (AHTAC). In launching MSAC, the Minister said the 'introduction of evidence based medicine and this committee means that the gap between research knowledge and clinical practice will narrow'. He noted that the 'MSAC committee is charged with overseeing a process where evidence and science are the only points of reference'.<sup>3</sup>
- 1.8 At the time PET was assessed, the MSAC terms of reference were to:
  - 1. Advise the Minister for Health and Aged Care on the strength of evidence pertaining to new or emerging medical technologies and procedures in relation to their safety, clinical and cost effectiveness and under what circumstance public funding should be supported.
  - 2. Advise the Minister on which new medical technologies and procedures should be funded on an interim basis to allow data to be assembled to determine their safety, effectiveness and cost effectiveness.

\_

Note: The Department of Health and Family Services was renamed as the Department of Health and Aged Care in 1998, and then as the Department of Health and Ageing in 2001.

<sup>3</sup> Dr Michael Wooldridge, Minister for Health and Family Services, Launch of Medicare Services Advisory Committee, speech at Old Parliament House, 6.4.98, available from www.health.gov.au.

- 3. Advise the Minister on references related either to the new and/or existing medical technologies and procedures.
- 4. Undertake health technology assessment (HTA) work referred by the Australian Health Ministers' Advisory Council (AHMAC).<sup>4</sup>
- 1.9 The MSAC process for assessing medical technologies is in several stages. A description of the process from the first MSAC annual report during the time when PET was assessed provides a useful summary and is extracted below.

# Stage 1 – Eligibility

The first stage of the MSAC assessment cycle involves consideration within the Department of Health and Aged Care of an application's eligibility for assessment by MSAC.

#### Stage 2 – Assessment

If an application is considered eligible for review it moves onto the second stage, assessment. MSAC utilises independent contractors to conduct the majority of the evidence based assessment. This involves the development of an evaluation protocol and assessing the available evidence on the safety, clinical effectiveness and cost effectiveness of the technology or procedure.

MSAC appoints a specialist Supporting Committee, chaired by a member of MSAC, to assist in the assessment of each application. This provides expert input into the assessment process as well as ensuring that the contractors' assessment is clinically relevant.

#### Stage 3 – Formulation of advice to the Minister

In formulating recommendations to the Minister, MSAC considers a range of information. This includes the assessment report and any feedback on the report received from the MSAC applicant or the Department.

MSAC recommendations generally fall into one of three categories:

- The evidence is strong and supports public funding;
- The evidence does not support public funding; or
- The evidence is inconclusive but suggests that the procedure could be safer, more effective, and more cost-effective than comparable procedures that attract public funding. In these circumstances, MSAC may recommend interim funding to enable data collection and further evaluation of the procedure.

#### Stage 4 – Decision

The Department makes a submission to the Minister for Health and Aged Care that combines MSAC's final assessment report and recommendations with policy advice from the Department. The Minister considers this information and makes a decision to endorse or reject the MSAC recommendations. To date the Minister has endorsed all MSAC recommendations.

<sup>4</sup> MSAC, Annual Report, April 1998 – June 2000, p. 9.

## **Stage 5 – Implementation**

If the Minister endorses a recommendation for Commonwealth funding of a new medical service, the appropriate consultative committee draws on MSAC's findings to determine funding levels. The appropriate committee is determined primarily by the nature of the service, however relevant committees include the Medicare Benefits Consultative Committee, the Consultative Committee on Diagnostic Imaging and the Pathology Services Table Committee.<sup>5</sup>

# The review of PET

- 1.10 In 1999, MSAC received applications from Professor Ken Miles at Wesley Hospital and Dr John Morris at Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre seeking an extension of Medicare funding for the use of PET. The Chair of MSAC, Professor David Weedon, wrote to the then Minister for Health and Aged Care, Dr Michael Wooldridge, to advise him that MSAC had received an application to assess PET. Professor Weedon stated that MSAC agreed 'the role of PET in the Australian health system needs to be clarified, and appropriate funding models considered, so that the application can be assessed in the broader context' and sought advice on how the Minister wished to proceed.<sup>6</sup>
- 1.11 In response to this request for advice, the Minister instructed the Department of Health and Aged Care to set up a review of PET 'that would incorporate an assessment by MSAC, but also consider a broader range of issues including technical specifications, funding models, an appropriate distribution of services, and ongoing evaluation'. The Diagnostic and Technology Branch of the Department conducted the review with the guidance of a Steering Committee comprising representatives of the medical profession, State and Territory governments and consumers. The Steering Committee was responsible for consideration of the broader policy issues associated with PET, and for the preparation of the review report and recommendations for presentation to the minister.
- 1.12 Professor Weedon later explained the purpose of the Steering Committee:

Because positron emission tomography (PET) has the potential to become a major expense for the Federal Government, MSAC recommended that the Minister establish a special committee (independent of the MSAC process, but with an MSAC member for coordination) to report on the need for this

\_\_\_

<sup>5</sup> MSAC, *Annual Report*, April 1998 – June 2000, pp. 14 - 15.

<sup>6</sup> Correspondence between Professor David Weedon and Minister Michael Wooldridge, dated 9.6.99, p. 1 (supplementary documentation provided by Dr Robert Ware at 28.4.06 hearing).

<sup>7</sup> Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 29.5.06, p. 4.

<sup>8</sup> Report of the Review of Positron Emission Tomography, August 2000, p. 1.

technology in Australia and its funding. The Minister has accepted this recommendation.<sup>9</sup>

1.13 The Department established an advisory committee (the Steering Committee) with the following members:

Professor Brendon Kearney, Chair

Dr Geoff Bower, Australian and New Zealand Association of Physicians in Nuclear Medicine

Dr George Klempfner, Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Radiologists

Dr Gabrielle Cehic, Royal Australasian College of Physicians

Mr Clive Deverall, Consumers' Health Forum

Dr Richard King, Ex officio member—Medicare Services Advisory Committee

Associate Professor Stephen Boyages, States and Territories representative

Professor Michael Quinlan, States and Territories representative

Mr Alan Keith, Department of Health and Aged Care

Dr John Primrose, Department of Health and Aged Care. 10

1.14 Following its process, MSAC convened a Supporting Committee to assess PET with the following members:

Dr Richard King, Chair

Professor Brendon Kearney, Ex officio member—Chair of Review Steering Committee

Dr Rodney Hicks, Australian and New Zealand Association of Physicians in Nuclear Medicine

Dr Ken Miles, Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Radiologists

Associate Professor Andrew Scott, Australian and New Zealand Association of Physicians in Nuclear Medicine

Associate Professor Michael Fulham, Australian Association of Neurologists

Professor Robert Thomas, Royal Australasian College of Surgeons

Dr Michael Millward, Royal Australasian College of Physicians

Dr Michael Kitchener, Medicare Services Advisory Committee

Associate Professor Richmond Jeremy, Cardiac Society of Australia and New Zealand

Dr John Primrose, Department of Health and Aged Care.<sup>11</sup>

<sup>9</sup> David Weedon, 'Health technology assessment in Australia' (1999) 171 *Medical Journal of Australia*, p. 552.

<sup>10</sup> Report of Review of Positron Emission Tomography, August 2000, p. 55.

<sup>11</sup> Report of Review of Positron Emission Tomography, August 2000, p. 56.

- 1.15 The terms of reference for the review, as presented to the first meeting of the Steering Committee in October 1999 were:
  - 1. To assess, in conjunction with MSAC and the profession, and with reference to available sources of evidence, the cost effectiveness, clinical effectiveness and safety of PET, especially in relation to comparable technologies such as magnetic resonance imaging.
  - 2. To report on and assess, in conjunction with MSAC, the state of PET technology, recommending preferred technical specifications and approaches where appropriate.
  - 3. To clarify the role of PET in Australian clinical practice, including:
    - determining which indications/applications should be eligible for funding; and
    - where funding is appropriate, determining suitable funding models.
  - 4. To develop, in consultation with stakeholders including the profession and State and Territory governments, a national strategy aimed at ensuring appropriate distribution of and access to PET services.
  - 5. To develop, in consultation with stakeholders including the profession and State and Territory governments, a data collection and analysis plan to enable the ongoing evaluation of PET.<sup>12</sup>
- 1.16 At its first meeting the Steering Committee considered the roles and responsibilities of the various bodies involved in the review:

The MSAC Supporting Committee will oversight a technical evaluation of PET, including an assessment of clinical need, safety, effectiveness and cost effectiveness. The NHMRC [National Health and Medical Research Council] Clinical Trials Centre, under an existing contract with the Department, will conduct a systematic review of PET.

The Steering Committee will focus on broad policy questions related to national health planning. The MSAC Supporting Committee's evaluation will inform the Steering Committee's consideration of and recommendation on safety standards, practice guidelines, accreditation and training, distribution of and access to PET services and ongoing evaluation.<sup>13</sup>

1.17 The MSAC Supporting Committee also discussed the terms of reference and the roles and responsibilities of the two committees. The minutes for 29 November 1999 noted:

The committee agreed that in cooperation with the NHMRC CTC they were jointly responsible with the Steering Committee for ToR one, assessing the

Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 29.5.06, pp. 4-5; Minutes of Steering Committee meeting, 13 October 1999, p. 2.

Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 29.5.06, p. 4; Minutes of Steering Committee meeting, 13 October 1999, p. 5.

clinical need, safety, clinical effectiveness and cost effectiveness of PET in relation to diagnostic modalities.

. . . . .

It had been suggested that the Steering Committee would address ToR three, to clarify the role of PET in Australian clinical practice. However given time constraints and clinical experience, the committee members felt that the Supporting Committee was best placed to determine which indications/applications should be considered for funding (ToR 3, Part A).<sup>14</sup>

1.18 Dr Richard King, Chair of the Supporting Committee, took this proposal to a meeting with the MSAC Executive on 30 November 1999.

There was in-principle endorsement of the proposed changes. However it was agreed that, rather than formally alter the terms of reference at this stage of the Review, the Chairs of the Steering and Supporting Committees should liaise closely to ensure that all terms of reference are addressed without duplication of effort between the two committees.<sup>15</sup>

- 1.19 The MSAC Supporting Committee reviewed the use of PET in the following indications:
  - pre-operative staging of non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC);
  - potentially resectable melanoma;
  - residual/ recurrent mass in patients treated for malignant glioma;
  - suspected recurrence of colorectal cancer (CRC);
  - medically refractory epilepsy; and
  - assessment of myocardial viability in patients being considered for coronary revascularisation.
- 1.20 Between November 1999 and March 2000, the Supporting Committee met a number of times to scope the assessment and consider material prepared by the National Health and Medical Research Council Clinical Trials Centre. There was disagreement within the Supporting Committee regarding aspects of the contractor's assessment of PET. The minutes of meeting on 28 February 2000 note that the Chair advised members 'there was a place for members to put in a minority opinion'. In response to Dr King's offer, Dr Hicks submitted a document headed, "Report of the MSAC Supporting Committee to the National PET Review". Dr Hick's document was edited by Dr King and Dr Kitchener, recommendations were added, and the new document was presented for discussion to the final Supporting Committee meeting, in addition to the draft report prepared by the contractors.

<sup>14</sup> Minutes of MSAC Supporting Committee meeting, 29 November 1999, p. 2.

Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 29.5.06, p. 5

Minutes of MSAC Supporting Committee meeting, 28 February 2000, p. 8.

1.21 In a teleconference on 23 March 2000 the Supporting Committee agreed on the recommendations of a draft report. No minority opinions were noted in the Supporting Committee draft report. During the teleconference, the Department 'clarified for members that the final evaluation report will be presented as MSAC's view not that of the Supporting Committee'. The text of the recommendations from the MSAC Supporting Committee report is extracted below:

#### **Recommendations**

Based on the results of the NHMRC Clinical Trials Centre's evaluation and the clinical experience of Committee members, the MSAC Supporting Committee concludes that there is insufficient evidence of PET's clinical or cost effectiveness with respect to the six indications reviewed to warrant unrestricted MBS funding.

While the Committee agree that unrestricted funding is unwarranted at this time, the evidence suggests that PET is safe, clinically effective and potentially cost effective in the indications reviewed. On this basis the MSAC Supporting Committee recommends that PET be funded for the following clinical scenarios.

. . . .

#### **Suggested Funding Mechanism**

It is recommended that **interim** funding be made available for the above indications, subject to the **provision of data**. <sup>19</sup>

- 1.22 The Department has indicated that the 'path taken by material drafted by the contracted evaluators and considered by the supporting committee was first to the MSAC executive, then to the steering committee where it was modified and then to MSAC'.<sup>20</sup>
- 1.23 On 6 April 2000 the Steering Committee was advised that the MSAC executive had given its approval to consider the Supporting Committee's report. The minutes of that meeting note 'Dr King explained the findings and recommendations arising out of the MSAC Supporting Committee's technical evaluation'. The Steering Committee also referred to changes to the Supporting Committee report. The relevant parts of the minutes are extracted below.

The [Steering] Committee agreed with the general conclusions and recommendations of the MSAC Supporting Committee. However, members suggested some minor changes to the wording of certain recommendations. These changes have been incorporated in the revised draft approved indications and revised draft Steering Committee finding and recommendations at Attachment A and B respectively.

<sup>17</sup> Minutes of MSAC Supporting Committee meeting, 23 March 2000, p. 3.

<sup>18</sup> Minutes of MSAC Supporting Committee meeting, 23 March 2000, p. 4.

<sup>19</sup> Minutes of MSAC Supporting Committee, 23 March 2000. [bold in original]

Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 29.5.06, p. 5.

#### Action(s) arising:

The Department will amend the wording of some of the Supporting Committee's recommendations for inclusion in the MSAC Supporting Committee and the Ministerial report.<sup>21</sup>

1.24 The recommendations contained in the draft Supporting Committee report after amendment by the Steering Committee (and as presented to MSAC) are extracted below:

#### **General Findings**

The MSAC Supporting Committee concludes that:

- there is insufficient evidence at this time from which to draw definitive conclusions about the clinical effectiveness and cost effectiveness of PET:
- in most indications PET is used in addition to other diagnostic modalities. This was the case in the diagnostic algorithm used for the current assessment;
- in terms of adverse patient reaction to administration of FDG, FDG PET is safe; and
- further evaluation of the technology is necessary.

#### **Approved Recommendations**

The PET Review MSAC Supporting Committee concludes that there is insufficient evidence on PET's clinical or cost effectiveness with respect to the six indications reviewed to warrant unrestricted MBS funding.

While the Committee agree that unrestricted funding is unwarranted at this time, the evidence suggests that PET is safe, potentially clinically effective and potentially cost effective in the indications reviewed. On this basis the MSAC Supporting Committee recommends that PET be funded for the following clinical scenarios.

. . .

#### **Funding Recommendation**

It is recommended that **interim** funding be made available for the above indications, subject to the **provision of data.** 

1.25 MSAC considered the assessment of PET on 24 May 2000 and Dr King spoke to the altered Supporting Committee draft report. In the minutes of the meeting there was no indication that MSAC members were aware that the Supporting Committee draft report had been altered without the consent of the Supporting committee members. Dr King confirmed in evidence that the MSAC members were not informed that the findings and recommendations in the documents they were considering had not been authorised by the Supporting committee members. This is because Dr King did not consider that the changes were material, advising:

<sup>21</sup> Minutes of Steering Committee, 6 April 2000, p. 2. [bold in original]

I did not think it was a substantive change and I think it made it a more logical continuation of the first recommendation by the subcommittee, which was that there was insufficient evidence on PET's clinical effectiveness. If there was insufficient evidence of PET's clinical effectiveness, how can it be said in the next sentence that it was clinically effective?<sup>22</sup>

1.26 The minutes of the MSAC meeting also indicated that:

Dr Jackson has been asked to critique the draft report, and will also speak to it

In October 1999, the Minister for Health and Aged Care directed the Department to conduct a review of PET from a national perspective. Professor Kearney chairs the steering committee which is undertaking the review. MSAC was asked to contribute to the review's findings by undertaking an assessment of the technology under its criteria of safety, effectiveness and cost-effectiveness.

Consideration of the two applications for PET funding has been deferred pending the completion of the Commonwealth PET review. While the applicants have not, therefore, been asked for comments on the report, both were represented on the supporting committee.<sup>23</sup>

1.27 Dr Terri Jackson's commentary tabled at the MSAC meeting on 24 May 2000 discussed the roles and responsibilities of the various bodies involved in the PET review. Her commentary also discusses the need for a 'seamless' MSAC report to address the 'practical problem' which could result from differing findings and recommendations in the multiple reports.

MSAC's role in endorsing this Report is different from our standard role in recommending services for CMBS [Commonwealth Medicare Benefits Schedule] listing. Here we have been asked by the Minister to provide scientific advice to a Ministerial Review Committee chaired by Dr Brendon Kearney.

. . .

It may be that the Minister intended the Supporting Committee to report directly to the Commonwealth review, in which case MSAC has no formal role other than lending administrative support and we are not obliged to consider it further.

However, previous MSAC reports have been *MSAC documents* (with due acknowledgement of the work of the supporting committee and the agency preparing background information). To achieve this in future,

I would suggest that we adopt as policy the preparation of 'seamless' drafts from Supporting Committees (in the 'voice' of MSAC) for MSAC endorsement.

<sup>22</sup> Committee Hansard 30.3.07, p.33 (Dr King).

<sup>23</sup> Minutes MSAC meeting, 24 May 2000, p. 2.

Where the Supporting Committee is unable to reach consensus, alternative text be provided expressing the alternatives supported by Committee members for MSAC final determination.

Whatever our decision about the substance of the PET Report, I suggest that it be edited into a 'seamless' format for endorsement by the MSAC Executive prior to public release or publication.<sup>24</sup>

1.28 The draft report notes that in general discussion during the MSAC meeting:

Dr King noted that funding issues are the prerogative of the Commonwealth Review Steering Committee but that the objective was to retain funding at the current level. He also advised that a key objective of the three-year data collection would be to obtain data on PET's impact on clinical management.<sup>25</sup>

1.29 The draft report of the MSAC meeting also notes that:

On the strength of the evidence, members endorsed the thrust of the draft recommendations – that interim public funding for PET should be supported under the conditions outlined by Dr King ... It was determined that the exact wording of the recommendations will be determined within the next fortnight, then sent to all members for comment and endorsement, and finalised by the Executive and Dr King. <sup>26</sup>

1.30 During a teleconference on 9 June 2000, MSAC noted 'that a majority of MSAC members – 9 members out of 14, with Dr Kitchener abstaining – endorsed the recommendations of the MSAC supporting committee for PET'.

It was agreed that the MSAC report on the clinical applications of PET should feed into the Commonwealth Review Steering Committee report, ie, there should not be two separate reports going forward to the Minister. MSAC might attract criticism if it were deemed to have gone beyond its ambit. Hence, MSAC's recommendations to the Review will end with the discussion of 'approved indications', and not extend to the discussion from 'Suggested funding mechanisms' onwards.<sup>27</sup>

1.31 The Department noted that the published MSAC assessment report 'was a consolidation of supporting committee report, contractor's report and the finding and recommendations of steering committee'.<sup>28</sup>

Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 29.5.06, p. 6.

\_

<sup>24</sup> Dr Terri Jackson, Commentary on MSAC Supporting Committee Report for the Review of Positron Emission Tomography (PET) Services, tabled at MSAC meeting 24 May 2000 provided in Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information, dated 29.5.06 (Attachment 8) [bold and italics in original].

MSAC, Draft report of meeting, 24 May 2000, p. 3.

MSAC, Draft report of meeting, 24 May 2000, p. 4.

MSAC, Minutes of meeting, 9 June 2000, p. 1.

1.32 The final recommendations of the published *MSAC assessment report* are extracted below.

#### **Recommendations**

MSAC concludes that:

- there is insufficient evidence at this time from which to draw definitive conclusions about the clinical effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of FDG PET:
- in most indications, FDG PET is used in addition to other diagnostic modalities (and this was the case in the diagnostic algorithm used for the current assessment);
- in terms of adverse patient reaction to administration of FDG, FDG PET is safe; and
- further evaluation of the technology is necessary.

#### **Approved indications**

MSAC concludes that, with respect to the indications reviewed, there is insufficient evidence on FDG PET's clinical or cost-effectiveness to warrant unrestricted Medicare Benefits Schedule (MBS) funding.

While unrestricted funding is not warranted at this time, the evidence suggests that FDG PET is safe, potentially clinically effective and potentially cost-effective in the indications reviewed. On this basis MSAC recommends that FDG PET be funded on an interim basis for the following clinical scenarios.

. . . .

#### Suggested funding mechanism

MSAC recommends that interim funding be made available for the above indications, subject to the provision of data.

MSAC recommends that individual FDG PET facilities' access to interim funding be dependent on those facilities' collection of data relating to FDG PET's clinical and/or cost-effectiveness and the provision of that data to a central coordinating body. Data collection should occur within MSAC-approved prospectively designed studies that are capable of providing evidence to enable more long-term decisions to be made regarding the role of FDG PET in Australian clinical practice.<sup>29</sup>

1.33 The MSAC Assessment Report on PET was attached to the Report of the Review of Positron Emission Tomography produced by the Steering Committee. The Steering Committee noted in the Report that an 'integral part of the review was a

<sup>29</sup> *Positron emission tomography MSAC assessment report*, March 2000, pp. 87 – 88 [bold in original].

technical and scientific evaluation of PET, conducted by a supporting committee of the Medicare Services Advisory Committee (MSAC)'. 30

1.34 The Report of the Review of Positron Emission Tomography also notes that:

MSAC concluded that there is insufficient evidence on PET's clinical or cost-effectiveness with respect to the six indications reviewed to warrant unrestricted MBS funding. However, the evidence suggests that PET is safe, clinically effective and potentially cost-effective in the indications reviewed.

Many potential questions concerning the use of PET have not been addressed in the current assessment report. It should not be assumed that there is no role for PET in the areas not addressed.<sup>31</sup>

- 1.35 However in its own findings and recommendations the Steering Committee found:
  - 5. The review steering committee accepts MSAC's conclusion that there is insufficient evidence on FDG PET's clinical or cost-effectiveness with respect to the indications reviewed to warrant unrestricted funding through the Medicare Benefits Scheme (MBS).
  - 6. While the steering committee agrees that unrestricted funding is unwarranted at this time, the evidence suggests that FDG PET is safe, potentially clinically effective and potentially cost-effective in the indications reviewed. On this basis the steering committee recommends that FDG PET be funded on an interim basis for the following clinical conditions...<sup>32</sup>
- 1.36 Notably, the word 'potentially' does not precede 'clinically effective' in the first description of the *MSAC Assessment Report* on PET. The recommendations of the *Review of Positron Emission Tomography* were endorsed by the Minister for Health and Aged Care in August 2000.
- 1.37 MSAC has produced a number of further assessment reports regarding the use of PET. Following an assessment of PET for non-small-cell lung cancer and solitary pulmonary nodules, MSAC recommended that public funding should be supported. Similarly MSAC recommended public funding should be supported for the use of PET prior to surgery in patients with refractory epilepsy. These recommendations were accepted by the Minister for Health and Ageing on 2 March 2005.<sup>33</sup>

<sup>30</sup> Report of Review of Positron Emission Tomography, August 2000, p. xi.

<sup>31</sup> Report of Review of Positron Emission Tomography, August 2000, p. xiii.

<sup>32</sup> Report of Review of Positron Emission Tomography, August 2000, p. xviii.

<sup>33</sup> Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 19.02.08, p. 4.

#### **ISSUES**

1.38 Dr Ware, in his initial correspondence to the Committee, called for an inquiry into the Commonwealth's policy on PET and raised a number of concerns regarding the review and treatment of PET by MSAC. These included that, at the outset, the Review of PET had the objective of retaining funding for PET at the current level and that the Commonwealth had, over a period of years, promoted unsound healthcare information regarding the clinical value of PET.<sup>34</sup> Dr Ware's main contention was that the Commonwealth had compromised the independence of the MSAC by: preventing the processing of properly submitted applications; direct ministerial intervention in the process; and not following standard operating procedures for the MSAC.<sup>35</sup> In particular he argued that the Supporting Committee's report had been altered without the agreement of its members.<sup>36</sup>

1.39 The Committee also received evidence from Professor Rodney Hicks, who was a member of the MSAC Supporting Committee which assessed PET. Professor Hicks considered the changes made by the Steering Committee to the Supporting Committee's report changed the substance of the recommendations and did not reflect the evidence. In particular he noted the Supporting Committee had not been offered the opportunity to dissent or present a minority opinion regarding the changed Supporting Committee report presented to MSAC. He also raised his concerns that inaccurate information as to the clinical value of PET had been published under the names of the experts on the Supporting Committee.

#### 1.40 Professor Hicks stated:

The primary finding that there was 'insufficient evidence at the time to make definitive conclusions about the clinical or cost effectiveness of PET', made in response to the first term of reference of the PET Review, cast unequivocal and pejorative doubt on whether this technology 'works'... This finding was never presented to us and is fundamentally in conflict with both our actual recommendation and the body of the report... By inserting this primary recommendation at the very start of the report, readers are left with the impression that the experts involved in performing a review of the scientific evidence, including experts like myself had found the evidence fundamentally wanting. This had the effect of influencing local and international health-policy makers, the medical profession and patients seeking 'the best possible evidence' regarding this technology.<sup>37</sup>

Correspondence, Dr Robert Ware, dated 26.1.06, pp. 2 & 7.

<sup>35</sup> Correspondence, Dr Robert Ware, dated 26.1.06, pp. 5 & 6.

<sup>36</sup> Correspondence, Dr Robert Ware, dated 26.1.06, p. 6.

<sup>37</sup> Correspondence, Professor Rodney Hicks, dated 6.6.07, p. 1.

# Changes to Supporting Committee document

1.41 A large number of amendments were made between the versions of the report. There appear to be two main disputed differences between the recommendations of the Supporting Committee draft report attached to the minutes of the meeting of 23 March 2000 and the Supporting Committee report considered by MSAC on 24 June 2000. The first is the inclusion of the 'General finding' that 'there is insufficient evidence at this time from which to draw definitive conclusions about the clinical effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of PET' (separate from the results of the six specific indications reviewed). The second is the addition of the word 'potentially' before 'clinically effective' in the recommendations. See comparison in Table 1.

Table 1 – Comparison of original Supporting Committee report recommendations and altered recommendations

Recommendations of draft report approved by the Supporting Committee Recommendations of altered Supporting Committee report as considered by MSAC

#### Recommendations

Based on the results of the NHMRC Clinical Trials Centre's evaluation and the clinical experience of Committee members, the MSAC Supporting Committee concludes that there is insufficient evidence of PET's clinical or cost effectiveness with respect to the six indications reviewed to warrant unrestricted MBS funding.

the Committee While agree that unrestricted funding is unwarranted at this time, the evidence suggests that PET safe, clinically effective effective potentially cost the indications reviewed. On this basis the **MSAC** Supporting Committee recommends that PET be funded for the following clinical scenarios.

. . . .

#### **Suggested Funding Mechanism**

It is recommended that **interim** funding be made available for the above indications, **subject to the provision** of data

#### **General Findings**

The MSAC Supporting Committee concludes that:

- there is insufficient evidence at this time from which to draw definitive conclusions about the clinical effectiveness and cost effectiveness of PET:
- in most indications PET is used in additional to other diagnostic modalities. This was the case in the diagnostic algorithm used for the current assessment:
- in terms of adverse patient reaction to administration of FDG, FDG PET is safe: and
- further evaluation of the technology is necessary.

#### **Approved Recommendations**

The PET Review MSAC Supporting Committee concludes that there is insufficient evidence on PET's clinical or cost effectiveness with respect to the six indications reviewed to warrant unrestricted MBS funding.

While the Committee agree that unrestricted funding is unwarranted at this time, the evidence suggests that PET is safe, potentially clinically effective and potentially cost effective in the indications reviewed. On this basis the MSAC Supporting Committee recommends that PET be funded for the following clinical scenarios.

...

#### **Funding Recommendation**

It is recommended that **interim** funding be made available for the above indications, **subject to the provision** of data.

1.42 The Committee heard evidence from Associate Professor Richard King who acknowledged that, as Chair of the Supporting Committee, he took responsibility for the changes made by the Steering Committee to the Supporting Committee's report. He argued that amendments were made to parts of the recommendations which did not read together logically.

#### 1.43 Associate Professor King stated:

I did not make that change. I agreed to the change being made by the superior committee. It was not made by anyone in the health department; it was not made overnight; it was not a fly-by-night decision. It was made purely and simply so that the document read logically.<sup>38</sup>

. . .

There were editorial changes made to that primary finding which did not change the meaning of the primary finding at all and which did not change the outcome of the review at all. If you can point out to me how they have changed the meaning, I would be more than happy to accept that we have made a mistake. But saying that there is insufficient evidence at this time to draw definite conclusions about the clinical effectiveness and cost effectiveness of PET reads to me as the same but somewhat better worded than saying that the MSAC Supporting Committee concludes that there is insufficient evidence on PET's clinical or cost effectiveness with respect to the six indications reviewed—which were all the indications reviewed—to warrant unrestricted MBS funding.<sup>39</sup>

. . .

If there had been a change of intent, I would not have supported it, but I cannot honestly see how inserting the word 'potentially' into the second recommendation does not act in synchrony with the first recommendation, which is that there is insufficient evidence on PET's clinical effectiveness. That certainly makes it potentially clinically effective, but you cannot then turn around in the next paragraph and say it is clinically effective if the evidence says that there is not clinical effectiveness. If you were to read the report and we had left in that it was clinically effective in the second line, people from all around the country and internationally would say: 'But you haven't proved your point. You've said in the first line that there is insufficient evidence and in the second one, you've said it's clinically effective. How can that be? <sup>40</sup>

#### 1.44 Associate Professor King also stated:

The concern seems to be the editorialising and the probity of editorialising one senior committee over a junior committee, which happens in my experience quite frequently... I cannot see in anything that has been said by

<sup>38</sup> Committee Hansard, 30.3.07, p. 33. (Assoc. Prof. Richard King).

<sup>39</sup> *Committee Hansard*, 30.3.07, p. 34. (Assoc. Prof. Richard King).

<sup>40</sup> *Committee Hansard*, 30.3.07, p. 35. (Assoc. Prof. Richard King).

Dr Ware that MSAC is in any way at fault in this regard. If you are finding fault—and I do not believe that there is fault—then the fault is that of the ministerial review committee wanting to have wording that it could live with and my fault in not warning the members of the subcommittee.<sup>41</sup>

1.45 The Department indicated that changes were made to the Supporting Committee's report by the Steering Committee, but the details of what was actually agreed cannot be verified on the basis of the documentary evidence available. The Department considered that the substance of the report (that there was insufficient clinical evidence on which to make definitive recommendations) remained consistent.<sup>42</sup>

# Views of other MSAC Supporting Committee members

1.46 Following Professor Hick's evidence in relation to the lack of options for the Supporting Committee to dissent to the final report, the Committee agreed to write to other members of the MSAC Supporting Committee to give them the opportunity to comment on the matters raised. Several of the MSAC Supporting Committee members indicated that they did not feel that the findings and positions of the Supporting Committee on PET were accurately reflected in the final MSAC report. Professor Michael Millward commented:

The recommendations in the document presented to MSAC diverges from this [the MSAC Supporting Committee report], in particular the insertion of the word 'potentially' in front of 'clinically effective' in the final paragraph. I do not believe this can be considered an 'editorial' change.<sup>43</sup>

#### Professor Kenneth Miles stated:

....the Supporting Committee's view was that there was sufficient evidence for clinical effectiveness, but insufficient evidence of cost-effectiveness in the Australian healthcare system.<sup>44</sup>

#### Professor Andrew Scott commented:

The report that was finally submitted to MSAC (as stated in Appendix A) does not completely reflect the position of Supporting Committee. In particular, the use of 'potential clinical effectiveness' is not consistent with the views of the Supporting Committee. 45

<sup>41</sup> *Committee Hansard*, 30.3.07, p. 46 (Assoc. Prof. Richard King).

Department of Health and Ageing, answer to question on notice 2, 14.6.07 hearing (dated 3.9.07).

Correspondence, Prof. Michael Millward, dated 8.8.07, p. 1.

<sup>44</sup> Correspondence, Prof. Kenneth Miles, dated 7.8.07, p. 1.

<sup>45</sup> Correspondence, Prof. Andrew Scott, dated 12.8.07, p. 1.

1.47 However Professor Brendon Kearney<sup>46</sup> and Dr John Primrose considered the final MSAC report did reflect the Supporting Committee's report. Dr Primrose commented:

I can see no difference in meaning between the two versions of the 'Recommendations' contained in Appendix A of Senator Humphries letter. The second is merely an expanded and clearer version of the first.<sup>47</sup>

1.48 An alternative explanation was offered by Professor Robert Thomas, who indicated that:

My memory was that the committee could not find hard evidence that PET improved outcomes in cancer but clinical effectiveness was agreed because of better cancer diagnosis and staging. The original report rather confusingly states this varied outcome in the first two paragraphs. I have agreed that there is a subtle change in the final wording which does not make the clinical effectiveness element as clear as in the supporting committee report. The significance of this change is in the eye of the beholder.<sup>48</sup>

1.49 Professor Michael Fulham disputed the Supporting Committee recommendations even before they were altered by the Steering Committee. He argued the benchmarks used in the assessment for PET were inappropriate.

...I was convinced of the clinical effectiveness of PET as it related to the 6 indications that were discussed. The benchmark, however, that was set for the evidence to support the clinical effectiveness of PET, i.e. randomised controlled trials (RCTs), by the NH&MRC representative on the MSAC Supporting Committee was, in my opinion, inappropriate for an imaging technology. Despite arguments to the contrary during the meetings that were held, this was the standard that was promoted and upheld by the Chairman of the Committee. It was also emphasised by the clinicians that this standard had not been set for MR imaging where unrestricted Medicare funding had been recently granted and it seemed inconsistent and unreasonable to apply this standard to PET. It is true that in 1999/2000 there was a paucity of RCT data on the effectiveness of PET (but also for all other imaging modalities) and as such it was the opinion of the NH&MRC representatives and the Chairman that clinical effectiveness was not proven – so in this circumstance the first part of the "Recommendations" in Appendix A is correct "Based on the results of the NHMRC....evaluation" but the second phrase "and the clinical experience of the committee members", as it related to me and my experience, however is incorrect.<sup>49</sup>

<sup>46</sup> Correspondence, Prof. Brendon Kearney, dated 15.8.07, p. 1.

<sup>47</sup> Correspondence, Dr John Primrose, dated 15.8.07, p. 1 (Department of Health and Ageing).

<sup>48</sup> Correspondence, Prof. Robert Thomas, dated 7.8.07, p. 1.

<sup>49</sup> Correspondence, Prof. Michael Fulham, dated 19.8.07, p. 2.

# The independence of MSAC

1.50 A key concern raised by Dr Ware was that the independence of MSAC's assessment of PET had been compromised by the ministerial review and Steering Committee. This concern regarding 'political interference' was shared by Professor Hicks who believed 'there was an agenda to restrict the availability of PET and not to have an increase in PET funding'. <sup>50</sup> Professor Hicks stated:

I have no evidence to support this, but my suggestion to the committee is that there was a political objective in the PET review...

At the first meeting [of MSAC], where those applications were due to be considered, the minister was minuted as being in attendance but not minuted as having said anything. As an outcome of that meeting, the chair of MSAC, David Weedon, wrote to Michael Wooldridge to say that we were aware that the minister had a view about PET and, because of the implications of the technology, we suggested that the minister have the department conduct a formal review into this new technology.

A unique process was set up...which had never been done before and has not been done since. Under this process, there was a separate steering committee—MSAC and the supporting committee. It was a very complex organisational structure with certain people represented on multiple committees and some on none at all. There was very little interaction between those committees.

At the very first steering committee meeting Brendon Kearney was minuted as informing the steering committee that they should prepare themselves that the evidence for PET might be insufficient to warrant unrestricted funding. That is a clear statement, at least in my mind, that there was a political outcome that was desirable here.<sup>51</sup>

#### 1.51 Dr Ware commented:

It is always difficult to know why people do things if you are not there at the time; and this is clearly speculation on my part. I believe that what happened was that the government, and the minister particularly, were under enormous pressure over the MRI scan scam. That was well known; it was on The 7.30 Report. That was an administrative debacle...Everyone there knew that the issue of conflict confidentiality was paramount and that the minister was absolutely ropeable about what happened with MRI.

I believe that the minister had made a decision that he did not want to fund any more PET scanners... I believe that there was a deliberate effort to massage the scientific data, or the data that the public were going to use in their own health care, to fit a political objective. I cannot prove that.<sup>52</sup>

<sup>50</sup> Committee Hansard, 14.6.07, pp. 16 & 19 (Prof. Rodney Hicks).

<sup>51</sup> Committee Hansard, 14.6.07, p.14 (Prof. Rodney Hicks).

<sup>52</sup> *Committee Hansard*, 30.3.07, p. 21 (Dr Robert Ware).

#### 1.52 However Associate Professor King stated:

We did not have communication from the minister at all in relation to this... nobody was going to the minister, the reason no-one was going to talk to the minister at that stage about anything to do with diagnostic imaging was that the MRI scandal was still happily going in the background. However, at no time did we, at any committee I was on, receive any advice from the minister or the department as to what our outcomes should be.<sup>53</sup>

1.53 The Department argued that MSAC was entitled to make its own assessment of the evidence in the Supporting Committee report and that the 'final recommendation about the safety, effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of the technology or procedure is vested with MSAC'.<sup>54</sup> It noted that MSAC had before it a variety of information including the Supporting Committee's report, the contractor's report and the draft Steering committee's finding and recommendations. It also noted that 'MSAC member Dr Terri Jackson, a health economist with the Monash University Health Economics Unit, provided the critique of the evidence before MSAC'.<sup>55</sup> The Department stated:

MSAC is not a cipher. Consistent with its usual way of operating, and with the support of Dr Jackson's written and verbal critique, MSAC analysed not just the conclusions of the documents before it, but the substance of the analysis in the evidence.<sup>56</sup>

1.54 The Department highlighted that the 'Minister responded to the MSAC chair's request for direction on how to approach an assessment of PET by establishing the PET Review, which was to incorporate an MSAC assessment'. It also noted that the conclusion that 'funding should be provided on an interim basis, and for a defined set of indications, were reached on a number of occasions and by each of the bodies involved in the PET review'. The Department went on to state:

The process of conveying advice to MSAC, based on evidence compiled by the evaluators, and the considered opinions of members of the supporting committee, had no effect on MSAC's advice to the government. For example, it has been asserted that the insertion of the word 'potentially' in conclusions of the supporting committee might somehow have had a determinative effect on MSAC's view. This is not so either in this specific instance or generally. <sup>59</sup>

<sup>53</sup> *Committee Hansard*, 30.3.07, p. 46 (Assoc. Prof. Richard King).

Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 3.9.07, p. 2.

Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 29.5.06, p. 6.

Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 29.5.06, p. 9.

<sup>57</sup> Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 29.5.06, p. 10.

Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 29.5.06, p. 9.

<sup>59</sup> Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 29.5.06, p. 9.

1.55 The Department indicated it has undertaken 'thorough and extensive investigations of the processes and procedural activities which occurred during the Commonwealth review and the MSAC assessment of PET in 2000'. On the basis of this review the Department had found 'no evidence of fraud committed in relation to the review, by any officer in the Department or by any member of the MSAC Committees involved in the PET evaluation'.

#### Dissenting views in Supporting Committee

- 1.56 The Committee was concerned that the members of the Supporting Committee were not given the opportunity to express dissenting opinions in relation to their report after it had been altered by the Steering Committee. The Department highlighted that the 'minutes of the third supporting committee meeting of 28 February 2000 note that the chair of the committee advised members there was a place for members to put in a minority opinion'. However this occurred before the report was altered by the Steering Committee on 6 April 2000, and it appears that the Supporting Committee members were given no opportunity to express dissent to those changes.
- 1.57 In addition, the guidelines given to the Supporting Committee at the time that PET was assessed did not address the situation where members wished to place dissenting views on the record. The Department has acknowledged there was a flaw with the process of seeking final approval of the Supporting Committee's recommendations. The Department noted it was not until August 2000 that guidelines for members of MSAC Supporting Committees were changed to include the following:

In reporting to MSAC on its evaluation of an application, the supporting committee's report should note whether or not all supporting committee members were in agreement with the supporting committee's report. If not, the name of the supporting committee member(s), and the nature and extent of the dissenting view, should be included in the supporting committee's report. Areas of agreement/disagreement amongst supporting committee members, and by whom these views are held, should be stated.<sup>63</sup>

1.58 Professor Hicks asserted that he had provided a 'document in response to the Chair's offer' which was sent to the Department secretariat prior to the final meeting of the Supporting Committee on 23 March 2000.<sup>64</sup> While the Department confirmed that

Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 3.9.07, p. 4.

<sup>61</sup> Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 29.5.06, p. 10.

Department of Health and Ageing, answer to question on notice 4, 14.6.07 hearing (dated 3.9.07).

Department of Health and Ageing, answer to question on notice 3, 14.6.07 hearing (dated 3.9.07); MSAC, *Guidelines for members of MSAC supporting committees*, August 2000, p. 3.

<sup>64</sup> Correspondence, Prof. Rodney Hicks, dated 5.10.07, p. 2.

the document was received, it argued that it formed part of the Supporting Committee's deliberations and should not be viewed as a minority report as it was discussed and incorporated into the Supporting Committee's draft report at the March meeting.<sup>65</sup>

1.59 The Department acknowledged that there was a flaw with the process of seeking final approval of the Supporting Committee's recommendations.

It does not appear that the Supporting Committee was given the opportunity to formally sign off on its advice to the MSAC before it was considered by the MSAC Executive, the Steering Committee and subsequently the full MSAC. <sup>66</sup>

It also noted that MSAC processes have subsequently been amended to ensure clarity and consistency of procedure.<sup>67</sup>

1.60 Some of the other members of the Supporting Committee indicated that they may have, or would have, made dissenting views if they had been offered the opportunity. Professor Scott commented he had been 'provided with operating guidelines for the Supporting Committee, which do not contain information on recording of dissenting views'. He stated:

If I had been aware of the alterations to the report, I would most likely have requested that the Recommendations be changed back to that which was agreed by the Supporting Committee. I am unsure of what the process for that would have been. A dissenting view as a final recourse would have been a possibility.<sup>68</sup>

1.61 Professor Millward noted 'the changes were made after the MSAC supporting committee had seen what it thought was the final report. Therefore there was no opportunity to comment on what was presented to MSAC... I expect I would have expressed a dissenting view...'. 69

#### 1.62 Professor Miles commented:

I was not given an adequate opportunity to comment or disagree with the Supporting Committee's report because the report was amended beyond mere editorial changes after the final meeting of the Committee without being referred back to the Committee for approval of these changes or

Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 19.2.08, p. 3.

Department of Health and Ageing, answer to question on notice 2, 14.6.07 hearing (dated 3.9.07).

Department of Health and Ageing, answer to question on notice 2, 14.6.07 hearing (dated 3.9.07).

<sup>68</sup> Correspondence, Professor Andrew Scott, dated 12.8.07, p. 1.

<sup>69</sup> Correspondence, Professor Michael Millward, dated 8.8.07, p. 1.

opportunity to dissent. If I had been made aware of these changes, I would have requested my dissenting views be recorded.<sup>70</sup>

# Withdrawal of the report / publishing of an errata note

- 1.63 In their evidence to the Committee, Dr Ware and Professor Hicks argued for the withdrawal of the MSAC assessment report. One of Dr Ware's desired outcomes was 'to have the deceptive and dangerous recommendations of the 2000 PET review withdrawn from the public domain'. Professor Hicks also stated that the 'change in the findings... and the impact that has had on patients, have damaged my international reputation'. The committee of the comm
- 1.64 Professor Hicks had previously contacted the Department of Health and Ageing to request his name be removed from the MSAC assessment report. The Secretary of the Department, Ms Jane Halton replied:

You request in your letter that your name be removed from the MSAC PET report, in the absence of amendments reflecting your criticisms. Given the report has been in general circulation for over three years, and no reprints are anticipated, it would be impracticable to effect your request at this time.<sup>73</sup>

1.65 In his evidence to the Committee, Professor Hicks stated:

I would like to have my name removed as one of the people who have endorsed this report, as I have requested repeatedly of Jane Halton in the department. I ask senators to request that my name be acknowledged as a dissenting view on this report... I would like the opportunity to have the recommendation that our committee of experts actually put to Professor King—that was heavily edited by him before the formulation of that draft report that you saw—included as an appendix to this document, as a PDF on the MSAC website.<sup>74</sup>

1.66 Professor Fulham considered '...there would be little tangible benefit from having the report withdrawn'. He continued:

As to an errata note being issued I am ambivalent and I am not sure that it will achieve much; at RPA we will perform over 5,000 patient PET studies this year and our clinical program is second to none in providing a high quality clinical service to patients and referring Drs and each day we show

<sup>70</sup> Correspondence, Professor Kenneth Miles, dated 7.8.07, p. 2.

<sup>71</sup> *Committee Hansard*, 30.3.07, p. 7 (Dr Robert Ware).

<sup>72</sup> *Committee Hansard*, 30.3.07, p. 65 (Prof. Rodney Hicks).

Correspondence Secretary, Department of Health and Ageing to Professor Rodney Hicks, 10 February 2004, provided in Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 25.5.06 (Attachment 10.2).

<sup>74</sup> *Committee Hansard*, 30.3.07, p. 65 (Prof. Rodney Hicks).

the clinical value of PET in patient management. An errata note will have no effect on this.<sup>75</sup>

1.67 However other members of the Supporting Committee supported an errata note being issued. For example Professor Scott stated:

I believe that as a member of a Supporting Committee it is appropriate that the report to MSAC accurately reflect the views of the Committee. It would therefore be appropriate to consider allowing an errata to state that members of the MSAC Supporting Committee did not agree with all (or part) of the report sent to MSAC.<sup>76</sup>

#### 1.68 Professor Miles submitted that:

I would support an errata note being issued provided that the note indicated the manner in which the members of the MSAC Supporting Committee did not agree with the findings of the final MSAC report regarding PET, i.e. that the Supporting Committee found that PET was clinically effective for the 6 clinical indications reviewed, but that there was insufficient evidence of cost-effectiveness in the Australian healthcare system. If such a specific errata is not possible, then I would support withdrawal of the report.<sup>77</sup>

- 1.69 The Department indicated it had sought legal advice and consulted with the National Archives of Australia regarding Professor Hicks' request to have his name removed from both reports. The advice the Department received was that as Professor Hicks is on the public record as having been a participant in the Supporting Committee for the Review the removal of Professor Hicks' name would change the historical record, contrary to s. 24 of the *Archives Act 1983*.
- 1.70 The Department proposed to upload a disclaimer specific to the MSAC Reference 2 Positron Emission Tomography website noting Professor Hicks' earlier request that 'The primary conclusion in the reports arising out of the Medical Services Advisory Committee (MSAC) 2000 review of Positron Emission Tomography (PET) undertaken by MSAC does not reflect the opinion of Professor Rodney Hicks'. The Department indicated it would be writing to Professor Hicks to seek his confirmation that 'these proposed arrangements address the substance of his concerns'. <sup>78</sup>
- 1.71 The Department noted that standard MSAC practice was now for final reports and decisions to be made available on the MSAC website. The site includes a 'pop-up' disclaimer for each review stating that 'MSAC recommendations do not necessarily reflect the views of all individuals who participated in the MSAC evaluation'. In addition MSAC is currently reviewing how an individual's dissenting views might be

<sup>75</sup> Correspondence, Professor Michael Fulham, dated 19.8.07, p. 2.

<sup>76</sup> Correspondence, Professor Andrew Scott, dated 12.8.07, p. 2.

<sup>77</sup> Correspondence, Professor Ken Miles, dated 7.8.07, p. 2.

<sup>78</sup> Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 3.9.07, p. 3.

made known in its publicly available information.<sup>79</sup> The Department reported that the MSAC Executive had agreed that should this situation arise again a disclaimer specific to the report will be uploaded onto the MSAC website noting that:

The primary conclusion in the XXX report arising out of the review of XXX undertaken by the Medical Services Advisory Committee (MSAC) does not reflect the opinion of XXX (insert name).<sup>80</sup>

# Department of Health and Ageing

1.72 In his initial correspondence with the Committee, Dr Ware stated that the Department 'submitted, and then failed to retract, false information in response to a question on notice' put during Community Affairs Senate Legislation Committee proceedings. Additionally Dr Ware stated that Department officers had engaged in dishonesty in response to questions about the formulation and conduct of the Commonwealth's policy towards PET. 82

## 1.73 During his evidence Dr Ware alleged:

I believe these documents will also provide you with irrefutable evidence that the Department of Health and Ageing has breached the Australian Public Service Code of Conduct<sup>83</sup> by providing false and misleading information to this committee on multiple occasions. Even though senior department officers were made aware of these material errors of fact, no action has been taken to correct the public record...<sup>84</sup>

- 1.74 Dr Ware highlighted the answers the Department had provided to a Question on Notice from Senator Harradine on 5 November 2003.
  - (a) Did the Scientific Supporting Committee in its report find that PET scanning was clinically effective and possibly cost effective?
  - (b) Why were the expert opinions ignored in the final decision?
  - (c) Is it correct that a specialist from the Peter MacCallum Clinic wrote to the Chair of Scientific Supporting Committee and the chair of the Medical Services Advisory Committee (MSAC) requesting that his name be removed from any connection with MSAC's downgrading of the Scientific Supporting Committee's report?

<sup>79</sup> Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 3.9.07, p. 3.

Department of Health and Ageing, answer to question on notice 10, 14.6.07 hearing (dated 3.9.07).

<sup>81</sup> Correspondence, Dr Robert Ware, dated 26.1.06, p. 1.

<sup>82</sup> Correspondence, Dr Robert Ware, dated 26.1.06, p. 10.

The *Public Service Act* 1999 s. 13 outlines the APS Code of Conduct. The Code provides that an 'APS employee must not provide false or misleading information in response to a request for information that is made for official purposes in connection with the employee's APS employment'.

<sup>84</sup> *Committee Hansard*, 30.3.07, p. 3 (Dr Robert Ware).

The Department responded:

- (a) No. Supporting Committees of the Medical Services Advisory Committee (MSAC) do not make findings. Neither do Supporting Committees make reports, this being the responsibility of MSAC. Some members of the Supporting Committee did provide separate written advice to MSAC and this advice made stronger claims about the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of PET than those of MSAC's findings.
- (b) Expert opinions were not ignored in the final decision. However, MSAC's recommendations in relation to PET were primarily based on analysis of the evidence from the international scientific literature, not individual clinical opinion.
- (c) A specialist from Peter MacCallum Cancer Institute (also a member of MSAC PET Supporting Committee) wrote to the Secretary for the Department of Health and Ageing on 5 December 2003, referring to his letter dated 2 April 2003, which he noted had not been sent at that time due to an administrative error within his office. In the April letter, he requested that, in the absence of specific changes to the 2000 report of the Review of positron emission tomography, and the associated MSAC report, his name be removed from those documents.

This specialist was one of seven clinicians on the PET supporting committee, which also included representatives of MSAC and the Department. As is typical of an MSAC review process, the supporting committee's members expressed a range of views in the course of the committee's deliberations. However, no committee member other than the specialist in question made a formal statement of dissent in relation to the PET review's findings. 85

1.75 The Department rejected Dr Ware's allegations concerning the conduct of Departmental officers during this matter stating that 'all Departmental officers have acted with integrity and professionalism in dealing with this controversial and difficult issue'. <sup>86</sup> The Department stated it had 'made every effort to ensure that the secretariat support provided to MSAC is professional and that record keeping for the MSAC Committee is accurate'. However the Department also noted that:

In responding to the queries of Dr Ware, Professor Hicks and members of this Committee, it has become apparent that the quality of minute taking at the time was not what it should have been. Further, over the years there have been instances where the Department has supplied incorrect documents in response to these queries, in large part due to the confusion in nomenclature of the various parts of the process for that 1999 assessment.<sup>87</sup>

\_

<sup>85</sup> Senate Community Affairs Committee, Additional information received, Volume 6, Index and Answers to Estimates Questions on Notice, Health and Ageing Portfolio, Supplementary Budget Estimates 2003-2004, 5 November 2003, pp. 168-7 (E03-045).

Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 19.2.08, p. 4.

<sup>87</sup> Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 3.9.07, pp. 3-4.

# The role of MSAC

- 1.76 During the hearing on 30 March 2007 there was discussion regarding possible reform of MSAC. In May 2004, MSAC undertook a review of its procedures and methods in order to identify opportunities to improve approaches to, and management of, the assessment of health technologies. In November 2004, MSAC agreed to implement a number of actions which were developed using ideas contained in many of the submissions, and which fitted within its terms of reference. The review was completed in May 2005. 88
- 1.77 However Dr Ware argued for further reforms to MSAC which he stated 'needs to be under legislative control'. He quoted from the Australian Medical Association submission to the MSAC review to highlight his concerns:

Until MSAC is established on a similar footing to PBAC [Pharmaceutical Benefits Advisory Committee], it will not enjoy the confidence of the medical profession. The establishment of MSAC was an attempt to establish a more independent body at arm's-length from the government. MSAC is not established independently of the department or the government. Its agenda in relation to existing MBS items is almost exclusively determined by the department and its secretariat. It is made up of departmental officers with line responsibility to senior departmental officers. The relationships between the department and the MSAC secretariat and MSAC itself are unclear.

1.78 In the review report MSAC agreed to a number of reforms to improve the transparency of MSAC assessment processes. These included developing 'a presentation and associated material that will provide clear, consistent direction to Advisory Panels [Supporting Committees] about the roles and responsibilities of panel members, as well as the contracted evaluators and the department'. However the report does not appear to address the relationship between MSAC and the Department and the issue of the independence of evidence-based advice.

#### **CONCLUSION**

- 1.79 As previously stated the Committee's interest in this matter related to whether the practices and procedures used in assessing PET were appropriate and whether false information had been provided during estimates proceedings of the Committee.
- 1.80 In the opinion of the Committee, no evidence was provided to support the contention that there was inappropriate intervention by the Minister or Department officials into the MSAC assessment of PET. The Committee is also satisfied that there has been no evidence presented that would indicate that the MSAC decision regarding

<sup>88</sup> MSAC, Report of a Review of the Medical Services Advisory Committee, May 2005.

<sup>89</sup> Committee Hansard, 30.03.07, p. 16 (Dr Robert Ware).

<sup>90</sup> MSAC, Report of a Review of the Medical Services Advisory Committee, May 2005, p. 32.

PET turned on any amendments made to the Supporting Committee's report. Despite the inclusion of the 'General findings' and other changes to the report, the interim funding recommendations of the Supporting Committee were adopted by MSAC and the Minister. While changes were made to the report by the Steering Committee, the Committee does not consider they were material enough to mislead the medical professionals on MSAC as to the clinical value of PET given the other research, analysis and data available to them.

- 1.81 However the issues raised by Dr Ware and Professor Hicks highlight the importance of ensuring the independence of scientific and technical evidence based assessments of new medical technologies. Allowing the Supporting Committee's report to be viewed and altered by the Steering Committee, and by officers from the Department, invited questions of impropriety into an assessment process which was held up as being based wholly on scientific and technical evidence. This situation was compounded by the fact that members of the Supporting Committee had no notification that changes were being made or the opportunity to have their dissent to the changes recorded.
- 1.82 The Committee also notes that in the previously outlined stages of the assessment process, MSAC, in formulating recommendations to the Minister, considers 'a range of information' including 'the assessment report and any feedback on the report received from the MSAC applicant...'. <sup>91</sup> In the MSAC assessment of PET this did not occur, as parties involved with the applications (Professor Hicks and Professor Miles) were part of the Supporting Committee. The Committee understands that conflicts of interest regarding developing medical technologies are common and, in many instances, unavoidable given the relatively small pool of clinical expertise in Australia. In future, it would be preferable if applicants to MSAC in relation to a new medical technology were not invited to participate as part of the Supporting Committee assessing the technology.
- 1.83 The Committee has noted the review of MSAC assessment processes and the reforms to improve the transparency of MSAC decisions. This review does not appear to have considered the specific issue of the independence of MSAC advice from the Minister or the Department. Arguments were put to the Committee that MSAC should, like the Pharmaceutical Benefits Advisory Committee (PBAC), be constituted as a statutory body, at arm's length from the Government.
- 1.84 During the hearing on 30 March 2007 a number of allegations were made regarding Associate Professor King in his role as Chair of the Supporting Committee. In essence, these suggest that Associate Professor King was responsible for altering the recommendations of the Supporting Committee regarding PET and/or fraudulently misrepresenting to MSAC that the report was the unaltered recommendations of the Supporting Committee (after it had been altered by the Steering Committee).

- 1.85 As the Chair of the Supporting Committee, Associate Professor King has taken responsibility for the changes that were made by the Steering Committee to the Supporting Committee report recommendations. However there has been no evidence presented that Associate Professor King (or anyone else) had any intention to mislead or to deceive MSAC or had any reason for doing anything inappropriate in the changes that were made to the Supporting Committee report by the Steering Committee. In the opinion of the Committee these allegations are without foundation.
- 1.86 The MSAC assessment of PET highlights the dangers of ambiguities arising in the roles and responsibilities of the bodies involved in the review of new medical technologies. The Committee considers that the roles and responsibilities of the Supporting and Steering Committees in the review of PET were not clear. For example the Supporting Committee minutes indicate it agreed 'it was jointly responsible with the Steering Committee for ToR [term of reference] one, assessing the clinical need, safety, clinical effectiveness and cost effectiveness of PET in relation to diagnostic modalities'. The Department has also noted this was a relatively new process with unique circumstances:

....when this matter went through MSAC it was very early days. I think it was the second application that MSAC had ever considered and it was the first one where it had this particular structure of three committees essentially in the main MSAC, a supporting committee and a steering committee. The steering committee, as I say, I think was the first example and it had a particular role which you would not normally find associated with MSAC. 92

- 1.87 The majority of the Committee consider that it was perhaps a mistake for Associate Professor King to agree to the changes to the wording of the recommendations without informing and obtaining the written consent of the rest of the Supporting Committee. It was perhaps also a poor procedural decision not to ensure that the changes made were clearly recorded as the Steering Committee's when the draft Supporting Committee report was given to MSAC for its consideration. However these deficiencies in the assessment process could also reflect the quality of the secretariat support by the Department to both the Steering Committee and the MSAC Supporting Committee.
- 1.88 The Committee has considered the matters raised by Dr Ware in relation to the evidence provided by officers of the Department of Health and Ageing. The Committee is concerned about the quality of the responses from the Department to questions on notice during earlier estimates hearings. While literally correct the answer provided by the Department to Senator Harradine's question on notice (E03-045) appears disingenuous and unhelpful, at best, when considered next to the wording of the report of the MSAC Supporting Committee on 23 March 2000.

<sup>92</sup> Committee Hansard, 14.6.07, p.22 (Mr David Learmonth, Department of Health and Ageing).

- 1.89 The Committee notes that the Government Guidelines for Official Witnesses before Parliamentary Committees and Related Material state that it is the duty of the public servants 'to assist ministers to fulfil their accountability obligations by providing full and accurate information to the Parliament about the factual and technical background to policies and their administration'. These guidelines are aimed at encouraging the freest possible flow of such information between the public service, the Parliament and the public. <sup>93</sup> The Committee is concerned that the Department has not maintained this standard.
- 1.90 In addition, the Committee wishes to record its disappointment with the conduct of officers of the Department of Health and Ageing when appearing to answer questions on this matter. At the hearing on 14 June 2007, Department officers had not adequately prepared to answer relevant questions from Senators and frequently had to take questions on notice. Delayed responses to the questions taken on notice have made it difficult for the Committee to finalise its deliberations in this matter.
- 1.91 The Committee was particularly distressed at the extensive delay by the Secretary of the Department, Ms Jane Halton, in correcting the record in correspondence dated 16 June 2008 that related to comments in earlier correspondence dated 19 February 2008 that incorrectly attributed certain views to Professors Weedon and King in correspondence with Professor Hicks in early 2001. Ms Halton conceded that 'the error was not detected, despite the letter [dated 19 February 2008] being subjected to a number of checks, including by external lawyers'. 94
- 1.92 The Committee considers that it is likely this matter would have been dealt with considerably earlier if the Department of Health and Ageing had been more effective in communicating information, either in response to Senators' questions, in response to freedom of information requests or otherwise.
- 1.93 The Committee notes the Department now intends to offer Professor Hicks an erratum to appear on the MSAC website. However, given the range of views expressed by the other members of the Supporting Committee, the Committee considers that they should also be offered the opportunity to have their dissent acknowledged.

\_

<sup>93</sup> Government Guidelines for Official Witnesses before Parliamentary Committees and related material, November 1989, p. 3. Available from <a href="https://www.pmc.gov.au">www.pmc.gov.au</a>.

Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 16 June 2008, p.1.

# Recommendation

1.94 That the Department of Health and Ageing and the Medical Services Advisory Committee coordinate to issue a disclaimer or erratum to institutions likely to hold physical or electronic copies of the MSAC Assessment Report: Positron Emission Tomography or the Report of the Review of Positron Emission Tomography to indicate which members of the Supporting Committee did not agree that the final report reflected their views.

Senator Claire Moore Chair June 2008

# A MATTER RELATING TO THE POSITRON EMISSION TOMOGRAPHY (PET) REVIEW OF 2000

# **Minority Report by Senators Milne and Allison**

# THE INQUIRY

- 1.1 In January 2006 the Senate Community Affairs Committee (the Committee) received correspondence from Dr Robert Ware raising a number of issues relating to the assessment of PET by the Medical Services Advisory Committee (MSAC) in 2000 and requesting an inquiry into 'the conduct of the Government's PET scanning policy since 1999'. Issues associated with PET and the MSAC Review in 2000 had been the subject of questions by Senators during estimates hearings over a period of time. In his correspondence, Dr Ware contended that the Department of Health and Ageing (the Department) had 'submitted, and then failed to retract, false information' in response to a question on notice during estimates proceedings.
- 1.2 The Committee agreed that, with an allegation of misleading evidence, it would hold a hearing to enable the issues in Dr Ware's correspondence to be raised and responded to by the Department. The Committee considered the matter at a public hearing in Canberra on 28 April 2006. This hearing generated a substantial volume of information and documents being provided to the Committee that required detailed assessment. The Committee considered that further hearings on this matter would be needed and these were held on 30 March 2007 and 14 June 2007. Members of the Committee also inspected the PET facilities at the Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre in East Melbourne on 22 August 2007.
- 1.3 The Committee's concern in this matter was whether false information had been given during the estimates proceedings and whether the processes used to make the decisions on the use and the funding of PET were appropriate, and reflected the contributions of people on the various expert committees. The Committee was not inquiring into the clinical value of PET or whether PET should have been viewed as clinically effective when it was first assessed by MSAC in 1999-2000.
- 1.4 A list of the documents authorised for publication by the Committee is at Appendix 1. A list of the witnesses who gave evidence at the hearings is available at Appendix 2. The Hansard transcript of evidence may be accessed through the Hansard website at <a href="http://www.aph.gov.au/hansard/">http://www.aph.gov.au/hansard/</a>.

<sup>1</sup> Correspondence from Dr Robert Ware, dated 26.1.06, p. 1.

# **BACKGROUND**

# Positron Emission Tomography (PET)

1.5 Positron Emission Tomography (PET) is a diagnostic imaging technology that uses short-lived radioisotopes to enable the non-invasive imaging of metabolic functions within the body. To conduct the scan a short-lived radioactive tracer isotope, which decays by emitting a positron and which has been chemically incorporated into a metabolically active molecule, is injected into a patient. The molecule most commonly used for this purpose is fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG). While computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) primarily provide information about anatomical structure, PET can image and quantify biochemical and/or physiological function. PET can be used as a means of diagnosis for a range of clinical conditions, including many cancers. The widespread use of PET is limited by the costs of cyclotrons required to produce the materials used for PET scanning as well as the need for trained staff and specialised equipment.

# The Medical Services Advisory Committee (MSAC)

- 1.6 The Medical Services Advisory Committee (formerly the Medicare Services Advisory Committee), or MSAC is the main body responsible for assessing medical technology in Australia. Most MSAC members are appointed by the Minister, and are selected on the basis of their expertise and standing in medicine or health economics.
- 1.7 The then Minister for Health and Family Services<sup>2</sup>, Dr Michael Wooldridge, established MSAC in April 1998, replacing the Australian Health Technology Advisory Committee (AHTAC). In launching MSAC, the Minister said the 'introduction of evidence based medicine and this committee means that the gap between research knowledge and clinical practice will narrow'. He noted that the 'MSAC committee is charged with overseeing a process where evidence and science are the only points of reference'.<sup>3</sup>
- 1.8 At the time PET was assessed, the MSAC terms of reference were to:
  - 1. Advise the Minister for Health and Aged Care on the strength of evidence pertaining to new or emerging medical technologies and procedures in relation to their safety, clinical and cost effectiveness and under what circumstance public funding should be supported.
  - 2. Advise the Minister on which new medical technologies and procedures should be funded on an interim basis to allow data to be assembled to determine their safety, effectiveness and cost effectiveness.

\_

Note: The Department of Health and Family Services was renamed as Department of Health and Aged Care in 1998, and then as the Department of Health and Ageing in 2001.

<sup>3</sup> Dr Michael Wooldridge, Minister for Health and Family Services, Launch of Medicare Services Advisory Committee, speech at Old Parliament House, 6.4.98, available from www.health.gov.au.

- 3. Advise the Minister on references related either to the new and/or existing medical technologies and procedures.
- 4. Undertake health technology assessment (HTA) work referred by the Australian Health Ministers' Advisory Council (AHMAC).<sup>4</sup>
- 1.9 The MSAC process for assessing medical technologies is in several stages. A description of the process from the first MSAC annual report during the time when PET was assessed provides a useful summary and is extracted below.

# Stage 1 – Eligibility

The first stage of the MSAC assessment cycle involves consideration within the Department of Health and Aged Care of an application's eligibility for assessment by MSAC.

### Stage 2 – Assessment

If an application is considered eligible for review it moves onto the second stage, assessment. MSAC utilises independent contractors to conduct the majority of the evidence based assessment. This involves the development of an evaluation protocol and assessing the available evidence on the safety, clinical effectiveness and cost effectiveness of the technology or procedure.

MSAC appoints a specialist Supporting Committee, chaired by a member of MSAC, to assist in the assessment of each application. This provides expert input into the assessment process as well as ensuring that the contractors assessment is clinically relevant.

### Stage 3 – Formulation of advice to the Minister

In formulating recommendations to the Minister, MSAC considers a range of information. This includes the assessment report and any feedback on the report received from the MSAC applicant or the Department.

MSAC recommendations generally fall into one of three categories:

- The evidence is strong and supports public funding;
- The evidence does not support public funding; or
- The evidence is inconclusive but suggests that the procedure could be safer, more effective, and more cost-effective than comparable procedures that attract public funding. In these circumstances, MSAC may recommend interim funding to enable data collection and further evaluation of the procedure.

### Stage 4 – Decision

The Department makes a submission to the Minister for Health and Aged Care that combines MSAC's final assessment report and recommendations with policy advice from the Department. The Minister considers this information and makes a decision to endorse or reject the MSAC recommendations. To date the Minister has endorsed all MSAC recommendations.

<sup>4</sup> MSAC, Annual Report, April 1998 – June 2000, p. 9.

### Stage 5 – Implementation

If the Minister endorses a recommendation for Commonwealth funding of a new medical service, the appropriate consultative committee draws on MSAC's findings to determine funding levels. The appropriate committee is determined primarily by the nature of the service, however relevant committees include the Medicare Benefits Consultative Committee, the Consultative Committee on Diagnostic Imaging and the Pathology Services Table Committee.<sup>5</sup>

### The review of PET

- 1.10 In 1999, MSAC received applications from Professor Ken Miles at Wesley Hospital and Dr John Morris at Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre seeking an extension of Medicare funding for the use of PET. The Chair of MSAC, Professor David Weedon, wrote to the then Minister for Health and Aged Care, Dr Michael Wooldridge, to advise him that MSAC had received an application to assess PET. Professor Weedon stated that MSAC agreed 'the role of PET in the Australian health system needs to be clarified, and appropriate funding models considered, so that the application can be assessed in the broader context' and sought advice on how the Minister wished to proceed.<sup>6</sup>
- 1.11 In response to this request for advice, the Minister instructed the Department of Health and Aged Care (now the Department of Health and Ageing) to set up a review of PET 'that would incorporate an assessment by MSAC, but also consider a broader range of issues including technical specifications, funding models, an appropriate distribution of services, and ongoing evaluation'. The Diagnostic and Technology Branch of the Department conducted the review with the guidance of a Steering Committee comprising representatives of the medical profession, State and Territory governments and consumers. The Steering Committee was responsible for consideration of the broader policy issues associated with PET, and for the preparation of the review report and recommendations for presentation to the minister.
- 1.12 Professor Weedon later explained the purpose of the Steering Committee:

Because positron emission tomography (PET) has the potential to become a major expense for the Federal Government, MSAC recommended that the Minister establish a special committee (independent of the MSAC process, but with an MSAC member for coordination) to report on the need for this

6 Correspondence between Professor David Weedon and Minister Michael Wooldridge, dated 9.6.99, p. 1 (supplementary documentation provided by Dr Robert Ware at 28.4.06 hearing).

<sup>5</sup> MSAC, *Annual Report*, April 1998 – June 2000, pp. 14 - 15.

<sup>7</sup> Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 29.5.06, p. 4.

<sup>8</sup> Report of the Review of Positron Emission Tomography, August 2000, p. 1.

technology in Australia and its funding. The Minister has accepted this recommendation.<sup>9</sup>

1.13 The Department established an advisory committee (the Steering Committee) with the following members:

Professor Brendon Kearney, Chair

Dr Geoff Bower, Australian and New Zealand Association of Physicians in Nuclear Medicine

Dr George Klempfner, Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Radiologists

Dr Gabrielle Cehic, Royal Australasian College of Physicians

Mr Clive Deverall, Consumers' Health Forum

Dr Richard King, Ex officio member—Medicare Services Advisory Committee

Associate Professor Stephen Boyages, States and Territories representative

Professor Michael Quinlan, States and Territories representative

Mr Alan Keith, Department of Health and Aged Care

Dr John Primrose, Department of Health and Aged Care. 10

1.14 Following its process, MSAC convened a Supporting Committee to assess PET with the following members:

Dr Richard King, Chair

Professor Brendon Kearney, Ex officio member—Chair of Review Steering Committee

Dr Rodney Hicks, Australian and New Zealand Association of Physicians in Nuclear Medicine

Dr Ken Miles, Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Radiologists

Associate Professor Andrew Scott, Australian and New Zealand Association of Physicians in Nuclear Medicine

Associate Professor Michael Fulham, Australian Association of Neurologists

Professor Robert Thomas, Royal Australasian College of Surgeons

Dr Michael Millward, Royal Australasian College of Physicians

Dr Michael Kitchener, Medicare Services Advisory Committee

Associate Professor Richmond Jeremy, Cardiac Society of Australia and New Zealand

Dr John Primrose, Department of Health and Aged Care.<sup>11</sup>

<sup>9</sup> David Weedon, 'Health technology assessment in Australia' (1999) 171 *Medical Journal of Australia*, p. 552.

<sup>10</sup> Report of Review of Positron Emission Tomography, August 2000, p. 55.

<sup>11</sup> Report of Review of Positron Emission Tomography, August 2000, p. 56.

- 1.15 The terms of reference for the review, as presented to the first meeting of the Steering Committee in October 1999 were:
  - 1. To assess, in conjunction with MSAC and the profession, and with reference to available sources of evidence, the cost effectiveness, clinical effectiveness and safety of PET, especially in relation to comparable technologies such as magnetic resonance imaging.
  - 2. To report on and assess, in conjunction with MSAC, the state of PET technology, recommending preferred technical specifications and approaches where appropriate.
  - 3. To clarify the role of PET in Australian clinical practice, including:
    - determining which indications/applications should be eligible for funding; and
    - where funding is appropriate, determining suitable funding models.
  - 4. To develop, in consultation with stakeholders including the profession and State and Territory governments, a national strategy aimed at ensuring appropriate distribution of and access to PET services.
  - 5. To develop, in consultation with stakeholders including the profession and State and Territory governments, a data collection and analysis plan to enable the ongoing evaluation of PET.<sup>12</sup>
- 1.16 At its first meeting the Steering Committee considered the roles and responsibilities of the various bodies involved in the review:

The MSAC Supporting Committee will oversight a technical evaluation of PET, including an assessment of clinical need, safety, effectiveness and cost effectiveness. The NHMRC [National Health and Medical Research Council] Clinical Trials Centre, under an existing contract with the Department, will conduct a systematic review of PET.

The Steering Committee will focus on broad policy questions related to national health planning. The MSAC Supporting Committee's evaluation will inform the Steering Committee's consideration of and recommendation on safety standards, practice guidelines, accreditation and training, distribution of and access to PET services and ongoing evaluation.<sup>13</sup>

1.17 The MSAC Supporting Committee also discussed the terms of reference and the roles and responsibilities of the two committees. The minutes for 29 November 1999 noted:

The committee agreed that in cooperation with the NHMRC CTC they were jointly responsible with the Steering Committee for ToR one, assessing the

Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 29.5.06, pp. 4-5; Minutes of Steering Committee meeting, 13 October 1999, p. 2.

Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 29.5.06, p. 4; Minutes of Steering Committee meeting, 13 October 1999, p. 5.

clinical need, safety, clinical effectiveness and cost effectiveness of PET in relation to diagnostic modalities.

. . . . .

It had been suggested that the Steering Committee would address ToR three, to clarify the role of PET in Australian clinical practice. However given time constraints and clinical experience, the committee members felt that the Supporting Committee was best placed to determine which indications/applications should be considered for funding (ToR 3, Part A).<sup>14</sup>

1.18 Dr Richard King, Chair of the Supporting Committee, took this proposal to a meeting with the MSAC Executive on 30 November 1999.

There was in-principle endorsement of the proposed changes. However it was agreed that, rather than formally alter the terms of reference at this stage of the Review, the Chairs of the Steering and Supporting Committees should liaise closely to ensure that all terms of reference are addressed without duplication of effort between the two committees. <sup>15</sup>

- 1.19 The MSAC Supporting Committee reviewed the use of PET in the following indications:
  - pre-operative staging of non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC);
  - potentially resectable melanoma;
  - residual/ recurrent mass in patients treated for malignant glioma;
  - suspected recurrence of colorectal cancer (CRC);
  - medically refractory epilepsy; and
  - assessment of myocardial viability in patients being considered for coronary revascularisation.
- 1.20 Between November 1999 and March 2000, the Supporting Committee met a number of times to scope the assessment and consider material prepared by the National Health and Medical Research Council Clinical Trials Centre. There was disagreement within the Supporting Committee regarding aspects of the contractor's assessment of PET. The minutes of meeting on 28 February 2000 note that the Chair advised members 'there was a place for members to put in a minority opinion'. In response to Dr King's offer, Dr Hicks submitted a document headed, "Report of the MSAC Supporting Committee to the National PET Review". Dr Hick's document was edited by Dr King and Dr Kitchener, recommendations were added, and the new document was presented for discussion to the final Supporting Committee meeting, in addition to the draft report prepared by the contractors.

<sup>14</sup> Minutes of MSAC Supporting Committee meeting, 29 November 1999, p. 2.

Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 29.5.06, p. 5.

Minutes of MSAC Supporting Committee meeting, 28 February 2000, p. 8.

1.21 In a teleconference on 23 March 2000 the Supporting Committee agreed on the recommendations of a draft report. <sup>17</sup> No minority opinions were noted in the Supporting Committee draft report. During the teleconference, the Department 'clarified for members that the final evaluation report will be presented as MSAC's view not that of the Supporting Committee'. <sup>18</sup> The text of the recommendations from the MSAC Supporting Committee report is extracted below:

### **Recommendations**

Based on the results of the NHMRC Clinical Trials Centre's evaluation and the clinical experience of Committee members, the MSAC Supporting Committee concludes that there is insufficient evidence of PET's clinical or cost effectiveness with respect to the six indications reviewed to warrant unrestricted MBS funding.

While the Committee agree that unrestricted funding is unwarranted at this time, the evidence suggests that PET is safe, clinically effective and potentially cost effective in the indications reviewed. On this basis the MSAC Supporting Committee recommends that PET be funded for the following clinical scenarios.

. . .

### **Suggested Funding Mechanism**

It is recommended that **interim** funding be made available for the above indications, subject to the **provision of data**. <sup>19</sup>

- 1.22 The Department has indicated that the 'path taken by material drafted by the contracted evaluators and considered by the supporting committee was first to the MSAC executive, then to the steering committee where it was modified and then to MSAC'. The Department's version of events conflicts with the documentary evidence provided, as there is no record that the Steering Committee altered the material drafted by the contractors. There is no evidence in the documents provided that the addition of recommendations and findings, attributed to the Supporting Committee, were discussed or authorized by the members of the Supporting Committee or the Steering Committee.
- 1.23 On 6 April 2000 the Steering Committee was advised that the MSAC executive had given its approval to consider the Supporting Committee's report. The minutes of that meeting note 'Dr King explained the findings and recommendations arising out of the MSAC Supporting Committee's technical evaluation'. The Steering Committee also referred to changes to the Supporting Committee report. The relevant parts of the minutes are extracted below.

<sup>17</sup> Minutes of MSAC Supporting Committee meeting, 23 March 2000, p. 3.

<sup>18</sup> Minutes of MSAC Supporting Committee meeting, 23 March 2000, p. 4.

<sup>19</sup> Minutes of MSAC Supporting Committee, 23 March 2000. [bold in original]

Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 29.5.06, p. 5.

The [Steering] Committee agreed with the general conclusions and recommendations of the MSAC Supporting Committee. However, members suggested some minor changes to the wording of certain recommendations. These changes have been incorporated in the revised draft approved indications and revised draft Steering Committee finding and recommendations at Attachment A and B respectively.

### **Action(s) arising:**

The Department will amend the wording of some of the Supporting Committee's recommendations for inclusion in the MSAC Supporting Committee and the Ministerial report.<sup>21</sup>

- 1.24 The Steering Committee were never asked to approve alterations to the draft Supporting Committee report, but instead were presented with a document headed "Revised Approved Indications" that was approved with minor further modifications.
- 1.24 The recommendations contained in the original draft Supporting Committee report were amended by unknown authors, at an unknown time, but were never authorized by either the Supporting Committee members or by the Steering Committee members. The altered findings presented to MSAC, incorrectly purported to be findings of its Supporting Committee are extracted below.

### **General Findings**

The MSAC Supporting Committee concludes that:

- there is insufficient evidence at this time from which to draw definitive conclusions about the clinical effectiveness and cost effectiveness of PET:
- in most indications PET is used in addition to other diagnostic modalities. This was the case in the diagnostic algorithm used for the current assessment;
- in terms of adverse patient reaction to administration of FDG, FDG PET is safe; and
- further evaluation of the technology is necessary.

### **Approved Recommendations**

The PET Review MSAC Supporting Committee concludes that there is insufficient evidence on PET's clinical or cost effectiveness with respect to the six indications reviewed to warrant unrestricted MBS funding.

While the Committee agree that unrestricted funding is unwarranted at this time, the evidence suggests that PET is safe, potentially clinically effective and potentially cost effective in the indications reviewed. On this basis the MSAC Supporting Committee recommends that PET be funded for the following clinical scenarios.

• • • •

21 Minutes of Steering Committee, 6 April 2000, p. 2. [bold in original]

### **Funding Recommendation**

It is recommended that **interim** funding be made available for the above indications, subject to the **provision of data.** 

1.25 MSAC considered the assessment of PET on 24 May 2000 and Dr King spoke to the altered Supporting Committee draft report as if it were the Committee's original report. In the minutes of the meeting there was no indication that MSAC members were aware that the Supporting Committee draft report had been altered without the consent of the Supporting committee members. Dr King confirmed in evidence that the MSAC members were not informed that the findings and recommendations in the documents they were considering had not been authorised by the Supporting committee members. Dr King did not consider that the change was material advising:

I did not think it was a substantive change and I think it made it a more logical continuation of the first recommendation by the subcommittee, which was that there was insufficient evidence on PET's clinical effectiveness. If there was insufficient evidence of PET's clinical effectiveness, how can it be said in the next sentence that it was clinically effective?<sup>22</sup>

1.26 The minutes of the MSAC meeting also indicated that:

Dr Jackson has been asked to critique the draft report, and will also speak to it.

In October 1999, the Minister for Health and Aged Care directed the Department to conduct a review of PET from a national perspective. Professor Kearney chairs the steering committee which is undertaking the review. MSAC was asked to contribute to the review's findings by undertaking as assessment of the technology under its criteria of safety, effectiveness and cost-effectiveness.

Consideration of the two applications for PET funding has been deferred pending the completion of the Commonwealth PET review. While the applicants have not, therefore, been asked for comments on the report, both were represented on the supporting committee.<sup>23</sup>

1.27 Dr Terri Jackson's commentary tabled at the MSAC meeting on 24 May 2000 discussed the roles and responsibilities of the various bodies involved in the PET review. Her commentary also discusses the need for a 'seamless' MSAC report to address the 'practical problem' which could result from differing findings and recommendations in the multiple reports.

MSAC's role in endorsing this Report is different from our standard role in recommending services for CMBS [Commonwealth Medicare Benefits Schedule] listing. Here we have been asked by the Minister to provide

<sup>22</sup> Committee Hansard 30.3.07, p.33 (Dr King).

<sup>23</sup> Minutes MSAC meeting, 24 May 2000, p. 2.

scientific advice to a Ministerial Review Committee chaired by Dr Brendon Kearney.

. . .

It may be that the Minister intended the Supporting Committee to report directly to the Commonwealth review, in which case MSAC has no formal role other than lending administrative support and we are not obliged to consider it further.

However, previous MSAC reports have been *MSAC documents* (with due acknowledgement of the work of the supporting committee and the agency preparing background information). To achieve this in future,

I would suggest that we adopt as policy the preparation of 'seamless' drafts from Supporting Committees (in the 'voice' of MSAC) for MSAC endorsement.

Where the Supporting Committee is unable to reach consensus, alternative text be provided expressing the alternatives supported by Committee members for MSAC final determination.

Whatever our decision about the substance of the PET Report, I suggest that it be edited into a 'seamless' format for endorsement by the MSAC Executive prior to public release or publication.<sup>24</sup>

1.28 The draft report notes that in general discussion during the MSAC meeting:

Dr King noted that funding issues are the prerogative of the Commonwealth Review Steering Committee but that the objective was to retain funding at the current level. He also advised that a key objective of the three-year data collection would be to obtain data on PET's impact on clinical management.<sup>25</sup>

1.29 The draft report of the MSAC meeting also notes that:

On the strength of the evidence, members endorsed the thrust of the draft recommendations – that interim public funding for PET should be supported under the conditions outlined by Dr King ... It was determined that the exact wording of the recommendations will be determined within the next fortnight, then sent to all members for comment and endorsement, and finalised by the Executive and Dr King.<sup>26</sup>

1.30 During a teleconference on 9 June 2000, MSAC noted 'that a majority of MSAC members – 9 members out of 14, with Dr Kitchener abstaining – endorsed the recommendations of the MSAC supporting committee for PET'.

<sup>24</sup> Dr Terri Jackson, Commentary on MSAC Supporting Committee Report for the Review of Positron Emission Tomography (PET) Services, tabled at MSAC meeting 24 May 2000 provided in Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information, dated 29.5.06 (Attachment 8) [bold and italics in original].

MSAC, Draft report of meeting, 24 May 2000, p. 3.

MSAC, Draft report of meeting, 24 May 2000, p. 4.

It was agreed that the MSAC report on the clinical applications of PET should feed into the Commonwealth Review Steering Committee report, ie, there should not be two separate reports going forward to the Minister. MSAC might attract criticism if it were deemed to have gone beyond its ambit. Hence, MSAC's recommendations to the Review will end with the discussion of 'approved indications', and not extend to the discussion from 'Suggested funding mechanisms' onwards.<sup>27</sup>

- 1.31 The Department noted that the published MSAC assessment report 'was a consolidation of supporting committee report, contractor's report and the finding and recommendations of steering committee'.<sup>28</sup>
- 1.32 The final recommendations of the published *MSAC assessment report* are extracted below.

### Recommendations

MSAC concludes that:

- there is insufficient evidence at this time from which to draw definitive conclusions about the clinical effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of FDG PET;
- in most indications, FDG PET is used in addition to other diagnostic modalities (and this was the case in the diagnostic algorithm used for the current assessment);
- in terms of adverse patient reaction to administration of FDG, FDG PET is safe; and
- further evaluation of the technology is necessary.

### **Approved indications**

MSAC concludes that, with respect to the indications reviewed, there is insufficient evidence on FDG PET's clinical or cost-effectiveness to warrant unrestricted Medicare Benefits Schedule (MBS) funding.

While unrestricted funding is not warranted at this time, the evidence suggests that FDG PET is safe, potentially clinically effective and potentially cost-effective in the indications reviewed. On this basis MSAC recommends that FDG PET be funded on an interim basis for the following clinical scenarios.

. . . .

### Suggested funding mechanism

MSAC recommends that interim funding be made available for the above indications, subject to the provision of data.

MSAC recommends that individual FDG PET facilities' access to interim funding be dependent on those facilities' collection of data relating to FDG

MSAC, Minutes of meeting, 9 June 2000, p. 1.

Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 29.5.06, p. 6.

PET's clinical and/or cost-effectiveness and the provision of that data to a central coordinating body. Data collection should occur within MSAC-approved prospectively designed studies that are capable of providing evidence to enable more long-term decisions to be made regarding the role of FDG PET in Australian clinical practice.<sup>29</sup>

- 1.33 The MSAC Assessment Report on PET was attached to the Report of the Review of Positron Emission Tomography produced by the Steering Committee. The Steering Committee noted in the Report that an 'integral part of the review was a technical and scientific evaluation of PET, conducted by a supporting committee of the Medicare Services Advisory Committee (MSAC)'. 30
- 1.34 The Report of the Review of Positron Emission Tomography also notes that:

MSAC concluded that there is insufficient evidence on PET's clinical or cost-effectiveness with respect to the six indications reviewed to warrant unrestricted MBS funding. However, the evidence suggests that PET is safe, clinically effective and potentially cost-effective in the indications reviewed.

Many potential questions concerning the use of PET have not been addressed in the current assessment report. It should not be assumed that there is no role for PET in the areas not addressed.<sup>31</sup>

- 1.35 However in its own findings and recommendations the Steering Committee found:
  - 5. The review steering committee accepts MSAC's conclusion that there is insufficient evidence on FDG PET's clinical or cost-effectiveness with respect to the indications reviewed to warrant unrestricted funding through the Medicare Benefits Scheme (MBS).
  - 6. While the steering committee agrees that unrestricted funding is unwarranted at this time, the evidence suggests that FDG PET is safe, potentially clinically effective and potentially cost-effective in the indications reviewed. On this basis the steering committee recommends that FDG PET be funded on an interim basis for the following clinical conditions...<sup>32</sup>
- 1.36 Notably, the word 'potentially' does not precede 'clinically effective' in the first description of the *MSAC Assessment Report* on PET. The recommendations of the *Review of Positron Emission Tomography* were endorsed by the Minister for Health and Aged Care in August 2000.

31 Report of Review of Positron Emission Tomography, August 2000, p. xiii.

<sup>29</sup> Positron emission tomography MSAC assessment report, March 2000, pp. 87 – 88.

<sup>30</sup> Report of Review of Positron Emission Tomography, August 2000, p. xi.

<sup>32</sup> Report of Review of Positron Emission Tomography, August 2000, p. xviii.

1.37 MSAC has produced a number of further assessment reports regarding the use of PET. Following an assessment of PET for non-small-cell lung cancer and solitary pulmonary nodules, MSAC recommended that public funding should be supported. Similarly MSAC recommended public funding should be supported for the use of PET prior to surgery in patients with refractory epilepsy. These recommendations were accepted by the Minister for Health and Ageing on 2 March 2005.<sup>33</sup>

### **ISSUES**

- 1.38 Dr Ware, in his initial correspondence to the Committee, called for an inquiry into the Commonwealth's policy on PET and raised a number of concerns regarding the review and treatment of PET by MSAC. These included that, at the outset, the Review of PET had the objective of retaining funding for PET at the current level and that the Commonwealth had, over a period of years, promoted unsound healthcare information regarding the clinical value of PET.<sup>34</sup> Dr Ware's main contention was that the Commonwealth had compromised the independence of the MSAC by: preventing the processing of properly submitted applications; direct ministerial intervention in the process; and not following standard operating procedures for the MSAC.<sup>35</sup> In particular he argued that the Supporting Committee's report had been altered without the agreement of its members.<sup>36</sup>
- 1.39 The Committee also received evidence from Professor Rodney Hicks, who was a member of the MSAC Supporting Committee which assessed PET. Professor Hicks considered the changes made by the Steering Committee to the Supporting Committee's report changed the substance of the recommendations and did not reflect the evidence. In particular he noted the Supporting Committee had not been offered the opportunity to dissent or present a minority opinion regarding the changed Supporting Committee report presented to MSAC. He also raised his concerns that inaccurate information as to the clinical value of PET had been published under the names of the experts on the Supporting Committee.

### 1.40 Professor Hicks stated:

The primary finding that there was 'insufficient evidence at the time to make definitive conclusions about the clinical or cost effectiveness of PET', made in response to the first term of reference of the PET Review, cast unequivocal and pejorative doubt on whether this technology 'works'... This finding was never presented to us and is fundamentally in conflict with both our actual recommendation and the body of the report... By inserting this primary recommendation at the very start of the report, readers are left with the impression that the experts involved in performing a review of the

<sup>33</sup> Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 19.02.08, p. 4.

Correspondence, Dr Robert Ware, dated 26.1.06, pp. 2 & 7.

<sup>35</sup> Correspondence, Dr Robert Ware, dated 26.1.06, pp. 5 & 6.

<sup>36</sup> Correspondence, Dr Robert Ware, dated 26.1.06, p. 6.

scientific evidence, including experts like myself had found the evidence fundamentally wanting. This had the effect of influencing local and international health-policy makers, the medical profession and patients seeking 'the best possible evidence' regarding this technology.<sup>37</sup>

### Changes to Supporting Committee document

1.41 A large number of amendments were made between the versions of the report. There appear to be two main disputed differences between the recommendations of the Supporting Committee draft report attached to the minutes of the meeting of 23 March 2000 and the altered Supporting Committee report considered by MSAC on 24 June 2000. The first is the inclusion of the 'General finding' that 'there is insufficient evidence at this time from which to draw definitive conclusions about the clinical effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of PET' (separate from the results of the six specific indications reviewed). The second is the addition of the word 'potentially' before 'clinically effective' in the recommendations.

37 Correspondence, Professor Rodney Hicks, dated 6.6.07, p. 1.

Table. 1 – Comparison of original Supporting Committee report recommendations and altered recommendations

Recommendations of draft report approved by the Supporting Committee Recommendations of Altered Supporting Committee report as considered by MSAC

### Recommendations

Based on the results of the NHMRC Clinical Trials Centre's evaluation and the clinical experience of Committee members, the MSAC Supporting Committee concludes that there is insufficient evidence of PET's clinical or cost effectiveness with respect to the six indications reviewed to warrant unrestricted MBS funding.

the Committee While agree that unrestricted funding is unwarranted at this time, the evidence suggests that PET safe, clinically effective effective potentially cost the indications reviewed. On this basis the **MSAC** Supporting Committee recommends that PET be funded for the following clinical scenarios.

. . . .

### **Suggested Funding Mechanism**

It is recommended that **interim** funding be made available for the above indications, **subject to the provision** of data

### **General Findings**

The MSAC Supporting Committee concludes that:

- there is insufficient evidence at this time from which to draw definitive conclusions about the clinical effectiveness and cost effectiveness of PET:
- in most indications PET is used in additional to other diagnostic modalities. This was the case in the diagnostic algorithm used for the current assessment;
- in terms of adverse patient reaction to administration of FDG, FDG PET is safe; and
- further evaluation of the technology is necessary.

### **Approved Recommendations**

The PET Review MSAC Supporting Committee concludes that there is insufficient evidence on PET's clinical or cost effectiveness with respect to the six indications reviewed to warrant unrestricted MBS funding.

While the Committee agree that unrestricted funding is unwarranted at this time, the evidence suggests that PET is safe, potentially clinically effective and potentially cost effective in the indications reviewed. On this basis the MSAC Supporting Committee recommends that PET be funded for the following clinical scenarios.

...

### **Funding Recommendation**

It is recommended that **interim** funding be made available for the above indications, **subject to the provision** of data.

1.42 The Committee heard evidence from Associate Professor Richard King who acknowledged that, as Chair of the Supporting Committee, he took responsibility for the changes made by the Steering Committee to the Supporting Committee's report. He argued that amendments were made to parts of the recommendations which he believed did not read together logically. It should be noted that Dr King's evidence related to agreed alterations to the Steering committee's draft report and that he did not admit that he was involved in the insertion of the primary finding to the Supporting Committee's original report. His evidence is corroborated by the records of the Steering committee's meetings.

# 1.43 Associate Professor King stated:

I did not make that change. I agreed to the change being made by the superior committee. It was not made by anyone in the health department; it was not made overnight; it was not a fly-by-night decision. It was made purely and simply so that the document read logically.<sup>38</sup>

. . .

There were editorial changes made to that primary finding which did not change the meaning of the primary finding at all and which did not change the outcome of the review at all. If you can point out to me how they have changed the meaning, I would be more than happy to accept that we have made a mistake. But saying that there is insufficient evidence at this time to draw definite conclusions about the clinical effectiveness and cost effectiveness of PET reads to me as the same but somewhat better worded than saying that the MSAC Supporting Committee concludes that there is insufficient evidence on PET's clinical or cost effectiveness with respect to the six indications reviewed—which were all the indications reviewed—to warrant unrestricted MBS funding.<sup>39</sup>

. . .

If there had been a change of intent, I would not have supported it, but I cannot honestly see how inserting the word 'potentially' into the second recommendation does not act in synchrony with the first recommendation, which is that there is insufficient evidence on PET's clinical effectiveness. That certainly makes it potentially clinically effective, but you cannot then turn around in the next paragraph and say it is clinically effective if the evidence says that there is not clinical effectiveness. If you were to read the report and we had left in that it was clinically effective in the second line, people from all around the country and internationally would say: 'But you haven't proved your point. You've said in the first line that there is insufficient evidence and in the second one, you've said it's clinically effective. How can that be? <sup>40</sup>

<sup>38</sup> Committee Hansard, 30.3.07, p. 33. (Assoc. Prof. Richard King).

<sup>39</sup> *Committee Hansard*, 30.3.07, p. 34. (Assoc. Prof. Richard King).

<sup>40</sup> *Committee Hansard*, 30.3.07, p. 35. (Assoc. Prof. Richard King).

# 1.44 Associate Professor King also stated:

The concern seems to be the editorialising and the probity of editorialising one senior committee over a junior committee, which happens in my experience quite frequently... I cannot see in anything that has been said by Dr Ware that MSAC is in any way at fault in this regard. If you are finding fault—and I do not believe that there is fault—then the fault is that of the ministerial review committee wanting to have wording that it could live with and my fault in not warning the members of the subcommittee.<sup>41</sup>

1.45 The Department indicated that changes were made to the Supporting Committee's report by the Steering Committee, but the details of what was agreed cannot be verified on the basis of the documentary evidence available. The Department considered that the substance of the report (that there was insufficient clinical evidence on which to make definitive recommendations) remained consistent 42

# Views of other MSAC Supporting Committee members

1.46 Following Professor Hick's evidence in relation to the lack of options for the Supporting Committee to dissent to the final report, the Committee agreed to write to other members of the MSAC Supporting Committee to give them the opportunity to comment on the matters raised. Several of the MSAC Supporting Committee members indicated that they did not feel that the findings and positions of the Supporting Committee on PET were accurately reflected in the final MSAC report. Professor Michael Millward commented:

The recommendations in the document presented to MSAC diverges from this [the MSAC Supporting Committee report], in particular the insertion of the word 'potentially' in front of 'clinically effective' in the final paragraph. I do not believe this can be considered an 'editorial' change.<sup>43</sup>

### Professor Kenneth Miles stated:

...the Supporting Committee's view was that there was sufficient evidence for clinical effectiveness, but insufficient evidence of cost-effectiveness in the Australian healthcare system.<sup>44</sup>

### Professor Andrew Scott commented:

The report that was finally submitted to MSAC (as stated in Appendix A) does not completely reflect the position of Supporting Committee. In

<sup>41</sup> *Committee Hansard*, 30.3.07, p. 46 (Assoc. Prof. Richard King).

Department of Health and Ageing, answer to question on notice 2, 14.6.07 hearing (dated 3.9.07).

Correspondence, Prof. Michael Millward, dated 8.8.07, p. 1.

<sup>44</sup> Correspondence, Prof. Kenneth Miles, dated 7.8.07, p. 1.

particular, the use of 'potential clinical effectiveness' is not consistent with the views of the Supporting Committee. 45

1.47 However Professor Brendon Kearney<sup>46</sup> and Dr John Primrose considered the final MSAC report did reflect the Supporting Committee's report. Dr Primrose commented:

I can see no difference in meaning between the two versions of the 'Recommendations' contained in Appendix A of Senator Humphries letter. The second is merely an expanded and clearer version of the first. 47

1.48 An alternative explanation was offered by Professor Robert Thomas, who indicated that:

My memory was that the committee could not find hard evidence that PET improved outcomes in cancer but clinical effectiveness was agreed because of better cancer diagnosis and staging. The original report rather confusingly states this varied outcome in the first two paragraphs. I have agreed that there is a subtle change in the final wording which does not make the clinical effectiveness element as clear as in the supporting committee report. The significance of this change is in the eye of the beholder.<sup>48</sup>

1.49 Professor Michael Fulham disputed the Supporting Committee recommendations even before they were altered by the Steering Committee. He argued the benchmarks used in the assessment for PET were inappropriate.

... I was convinced of the clinical effectiveness of PET as it related to the 6 indications that were discussed. The benchmark, however, that was set for the evidence to support the clinical effectiveness of PET, i.e. randomised controlled trials (RCTs), by the NH&MRC representative on the MSAC Supporting Committee was, in my opinion, inappropriate for an imaging technology. Despite arguments to the contrary during the meetings that were held, this was the standard that was promoted and upheld by the Chairman of the Committee. It was also emphasised by the clinicians that this standard had not been set for MR imaging where unrestricted Medicare funding had been recently granted and it seemed inconsistent and unreasonable to apply this standard to PET. It is true that in 1999 / 2000 there was a paucity of RCT data on the effectiveness of PET (but also for all other imaging modalities) and as such it was the opinion of the NH&MRC representatives and the Chairman that clinical effectiveness was not proven - so in this circumstance the first part of the "Recommendations" in Appendix A is correct "Based on the results of the NHMRC....evaluation" but the second phrase "and the clinical experience

46 Correspondence, Prof. Brendon Kearney, dated 15.8.07, p. 1.

47 Correspondence, Dr John Primrose, dated 15.8.07, p. 1 (Department of Health and Ageing).

<sup>45</sup> Correspondence, Prof. Andrew Scott, dated 12.8.07, p. 1.

<sup>48</sup> Correspondence, Prof. Robert Thomas, dated 7.8.07, p. 1.

of the committee members", as it related to me and my experience, however is incorrect.<sup>49</sup>

# The independence of MSAC

1.50 A key concern raised by Dr Ware was that the independence of MSAC's assessment of PET had been compromised by the ministerial review and Steering Committee. This concern regarding 'political interference' was shared by Professor Hicks who believed 'there was an agenda to restrict the availability of PET and not to have an increase in PET funding'. Professor Hicks stated:

I have no evidence to support this, but my suggestion to the committee is that there was a political objective in the PET review...

At the first meeting [of MSAC], where those applications were due to be considered, the minister was minuted as being in attendance but not minuted as having said anything. As an outcome of that meeting, the chair of MSAC, David Weedon, wrote to Michael Wooldridge to say that we were aware that the minister had a view about PET and, because of the implications of the technology, we suggested that the minister have the department conduct a formal review into this new technology.

A unique process was set up...which had never been done before and has not been done since. Under this process, there was a separate steering committee—MSAC and the supporting committee. It was a very complex organisational structure with certain people represented on multiple committees and some on none at all. There was very little interaction between those committees.

At the very first steering committee meeting Brendon Kearney was minuted as informing the steering committee that they should prepare themselves that the evidence for PET might be insufficient to warrant unrestricted funding. That is a clear statement, at least in my mind, that there was a political outcome that was desirable here.<sup>51</sup>

### 1.51 Dr Ware commented:

It is always difficult to know why people do things if you are not there at the time; and this is clearly speculation on my part. I believe that what happened was that the government, and the minister particularly, were under enormous pressure over the MRI scan scam. That was well known; it was on The 7.30 Report. That was an administrative debacle...Everyone there knew that the issue of conflict confidentiality was paramount and that the minister was absolutely ropeable about what happened with MRI.

I believe that the minister had made a decision that he did not want to fund any more PET scanners...I believe that there was a deliberate effort to

<sup>49</sup> Correspondence, Prof. Michael Fulham, dated 19.8.07, p. 2.

<sup>50</sup> Committee Hansard, 14.6.07, pp. 16 & 19 (Prof. Rodney Hicks).

<sup>51</sup> *Committee Hansard*, 14.6.07, p.14 (Prof. Rodney Hicks).

massage the scientific data, or the data that the public were going to use in their own health care, to fit a political objective. I cannot prove that.<sup>52</sup>

# 1.52 However Associate Professor King stated:

We did not have communication from the minister at all in relation to this... nobody was going to the minister, the reason no-one was going to talk to the minister at that stage about anything to do with diagnostic imaging was that the MRI scandal was still happily going in the background. However, at no time did we, at any committee I was on, receive any advice from the minister or the department as to what our outcomes should be.<sup>53</sup>

1.53 The Department argued that the 'final recommendation about the safety, effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of the technology or procedure is vested with MSAC'. The Department stated that MSAC had before it a variety of information including the Supporting Committee's report, the contractor's report and the draft Steering committee's finding and recommendations. It also noted that 'MSAC member Dr Terri Jackson, a health economist with the Monash University Health Economic Unit, provided the critique of the evidence before MSAC'. The Department stated:

MSAC is not a cipher. Consistent with its usual way of operating, and with the support of Dr Jackson's written and verbal critique, MSAC analysed not just the conclusions of the documents before it, but the substance of the analysis in the evidence.<sup>56</sup>

1.54 The Department highlighted that the 'Minister responded to the MSAC chair's request for direction on how to approach an assessment of PET by establishing the PET Review, which was to incorporate an MSAC assessment'. It also noted that the conclusion that 'funding should be provided on an interim basis, and for a defined set of indications, were reached on a number of occasions and by each of the bodies involved in the PET review'. The Department went on to state:

The process of conveying advice to MSAC, based on evidence compiled by the evaluators, and the considered opinions of members of the supporting committee, had no effect on MSAC's advice to the government. For example, it has been asserted that the insertion of the word 'potentially' in conclusions of the supporting committee might somehow have had a

<sup>52</sup> *Committee Hansard*, 30.3.07, p. 21 (Dr Robert Ware).

<sup>53</sup> Committee Hansard, 30.3.07, p. 46 (Assoc. Prof. Richard King).

Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 3.9.07, p. 2.

Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 29.5.06, p. 6.

Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 29.5.06, p. 9.

<sup>57</sup> Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 29.5.06, p. 10.

Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 29.5.06, p. 9.

determinative effect on MSAC's view. This is not so either in this specific instance or generally.<sup>59</sup>

1.55 The Department indicated it has undertaken 'thorough and extensive investigations of the processes and procedural activities which occurred during the Commonwealth review and the MSAC assessment of PET in 2000'. On the basis of this review the Department had found 'no evidence of fraud committed in relation to the review, by any officer in the Department or by any member of the MSAC Committees involved in the PET evaluation'.

# Dissenting views in Supporting Committee

- 1.56 The Committee was concerned that the members of the Supporting Committee were not given the opportunity to express dissenting opinions in relation to their report after it had been altered by the Steering Committee. The Department highlighted that the 'minutes of the third supporting committee meeting of 28 February 2000 note that the chair of the committee advised members there was a place for members to put in a minority opinion'. However this occurred before the report was altered by the Steering Committee on 6 April 2000, and it appears that the Supporting Committee members were given no opportunity to express dissent to those changes.
- 1.57 The guidelines given to the Supporting Committee at the time that PET was assessed did not address the situation where members wished to place dissenting views on the record. The Department has acknowledged there was a flaw with the process of seeking final approval of the Supporting Committee's recommendations. The Department noted it was not until August 2000 that guidelines for members of MSAC Supporting Committees were changed to include the following:

In reporting to MSAC on its evaluation of an application, the supporting committee's report should note whether or not all supporting committee members were in agreement with the supporting committee's report. If not, the name of the supporting committee member(s), and the nature and extent of the dissenting view, should be included in the supporting committee's report. Areas of agreement/disagreement amongst supporting committee members, and by whom these views are held, should be stated.<sup>63</sup>

-

<sup>59</sup> Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 29.5.06, p. 9.

Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 3.9.07, p. 4.

Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 29.5.06, p. 10.

Department of Health and Ageing, answer to question on notice 4, 14.6.07 hearing (dated 3.9.07).

Department of Health and Ageing, answer to question on notice 3, 14.6.07 hearing (dated 3.9.07); MSAC, *Guidelines for members of MSAC supporting committees*, August 2000, p. 3.

- 1.58 However, Dr Primrose, the Department's medical adviser to MSAC at the time confirmed that he knew that MSAC's dissent provisions were operational at the time of the 2000 PET Review.<sup>64</sup>
- 1.59 Professor Hicks asserted that he had provided a 'document in response to the Chair's offer' which was sent to the Department secretariat prior to the final meeting of the Supporting Committee on 23 March 2000.<sup>65</sup> While the Department confirmed that the document was received, it argued that it formed part of the Supporting Committee's deliberations and should not be viewed as minority report as it was discussed and incorporated into the Supporting Committee's draft report at the March meeting.<sup>66</sup>
- 1.60 The Department acknowledged that there was a flaw with the process of seeking final approval of the Supporting Committee's recommendations.

It does not appear that the Supporting Committee was given the opportunity to formally sign off on its advice to the MSAC before it was considered by the MSAC Executive, the Steering Committee and subsequently the full MSAC. <sup>67</sup>

It also noted that MSAC processes have subsequently been amended to ensure clarity and consistency of procedure. <sup>68</sup>

1.61 Some of the other members of the Supporting Committee indicated that they may have, or would have, made dissenting views if they had been offered the opportunity. Professor Scott commented he had been 'provided with operating guidelines for the Supporting Committee, which do not contain information on recording of dissenting views'. He stated:

If I had been aware of the alterations to the report, I would most likely have requested that the Recommendations be changed back to that which was agreed by the Supporting Committee. I am unsure of what the process for that would have been. A dissenting view as a final recourse would have been a possibility.<sup>69</sup>

1.62 Professor Millward noted 'the changes were made after the MSAC supporting committee had seen what it thought was the final report. Therefore there was no

<sup>64</sup> Correspondence, Dr John Primrose, 15 August 2007.

<sup>65</sup> Correspondence, Prof. Rodney Hicks, dated 5.10.07, p. 2.

Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 19.2.08, p. 3.

Department of Health and Ageing, answer to question on notice 2, 14.6.07 hearing (dated 3.9.07).

Department of Health and Ageing, answer to question on notice 2, 14.6.07 hearing (dated 3.9.07).

<sup>69</sup> Correspondence, Professor Andrew Scott, dated 12.8.07, p. 1.

opportunity to comment on what was presented to MSAC... I expect I would have expressed a dissenting view...'. 70

### 1.63 Professor Miles commented:

I was not given an adequate opportunity to comment or disagree with the Supporting Committee's report because the report was amended beyond mere editorial changes after the final meeting of the Committee without being referred back to the Committee for approval of these changes or opportunity to dissent. If I had been made aware of these changes, I would have requested my dissenting views be recorded.<sup>71</sup>

## Withdrawal of the report / publishing of an errata note

- 1.64 In their evidence to the Committee, Dr Ware and Professor Hicks argued for the withdrawal of the MSAC assessment report. One of Dr Ware's desired outcomes was 'to have the deceptive and dangerous recommendations of the 2000 PET review withdrawn from the public domain'. Professor Hicks also stated that the 'change in the findings... and the impact that that has had on patients, have damaged my international reputation'. The committee of the
- 1.65 Professor Hicks had previously contacted the Department of Health and Ageing to request his name be removed from the MSAC assessment report. The Secretary of the Department, Ms Jane Halton replied:

You request in your letter that your name be removed from the MSAC PET report, in the absence of amendments reflecting your criticisms. Given the report has been in general circulation for over three years, and no reprints are anticipated, it would be impracticable to effect your request at this time.<sup>74</sup>

# 1.66 In his evidence to the Committee, Professor Hicks stated:

I would like to have my name removed as one of the people who have endorsed this report, as I have requested repeatedly of Jane Halton in the department. I ask senators to request that my name be acknowledged as a dissenting view on this report... I would like the opportunity to have the recommendation that our committee of experts actually put to Professor King—that was heavily edited by him before the formulation of that draft

Correspondence, Professor Michael Millward, dated 8.8.07, p. 1.

<sup>71</sup> Correspondence, Professor Kenneth Miles, dated 7.8.07, p. 2.

<sup>72</sup> *Committee Hansard*, 30.3.07, p. 7 (Dr Robert Ware).

<sup>73</sup> *Committee Hansard*, 30.3.07, p. 65 (Prof. Rodney Hicks).

Correspondence Secretary, Department of Health and Ageing to Professor Rodney Hicks, 10 February 2004, provided in Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 25.5.06 (Attachment 10.2).

report that you saw—included as an appendix to this document, as a PDF on the MSAC website.<sup>75</sup>

1.67 Professor Fulham considered '...there would be little tangible benefit from having the report withdrawn'. He continued:

As to an errata note being issued I am ambivalent and I am not sure that it will achieve much; at RPA we will perform over 5,000 patient PET studies this year and our clinical program is second to none in providing a high quality clinical service to patients and referring Drs and each day we show the clinical value of PET in patient management. An errata note will have no effect on this.<sup>76</sup>

1.68 However other members of the Supporting Committee supported an errata note being issued. For example Professor Scott stated:

I believe that as a member of a Supporting Committee it is appropriate that the report to MSAC accurately reflect the views of the Committee. It would therefore be appropriate to consider allowing an errata to state that members of the MSAC Supporting Committee did not agree with all (or part) of the report sent to MSAC.<sup>77</sup>

1.69 Professor Miles submitted that:

I would support an errata note being issued provided that the note indicated the manner in which the members of the MSAC Supporting Committee did not agree with the findings of the final MSAC report regarding PET, i.e. that the Supporting Committee found that PET was clinically effective for the 6 clinical indications reviewed, but that there was insufficient evidence of cost-effectiveness in the Australian healthcare system. If such a specific errata is not possible, then I would support withdrawal of the report.<sup>78</sup>

- 1.70 The Department indicated it had sought legal advice and consulted with the National Archives of Australia regarding Professor Hicks' request to have his name removed from both reports. The advice the Department received was that as Professor Hicks is on the public record as having been a participant in the Supporting Committee for the Review the removal of Professor Hicks' name would change the historical record, contrary to s. 24 of the *Archives Act 1983*.
- 1.71 The Department proposed to upload a disclaimer specific to the MSAC Reference 2 Positron Emission Tomography website noting Professor Hicks' earlier request that 'The primary conclusion in the reports arising out of the Medical Services Advisory Committee (MSAC) 2000 review of Positron Emission Tomography (PET) undertaken by MSAC does not reflect the opinion of Professor Rodney Hicks'. The

<sup>75</sup> *Committee Hansard*, 30.3.07, p. 65 (Prof. Rodney Hicks).

<sup>76</sup> Correspondence, Professor Michael Fulham, dated 19.8.07, p. 2.

<sup>77</sup> Correspondence, Professor Andrew Scott, dated 12.8.07, p. 2.

<sup>78</sup> Correspondence, Professor Ken Miles, dated 7.8.07, p. 2.

Department indicated it would be writing to Professor Hicks to seek his confirmation that 'these proposed arrangements address the substance of his concerns'. <sup>79</sup>

1.72 The Department noted that standard MSAC practice was now for final reports and decisions to be made available on the MSAC website. The site includes a 'pop-up' disclaimer for each review stating that 'MSAC recommendations do not necessarily reflect the views of all individuals who participated in the MSAC evaluation'. In addition MSAC is currently reviewing how an individual's dissenting views might be made know in its publicly available information. <sup>80</sup> The Department reported that the MSAC Executive had agreed that should this situation arise again a disclaimer specific to the report will be uploaded to onto the MSAC website noting that:

The primary conclusion in the XXX report arising out of the review of XXX undertaken by the medical Services Advisory Committee (MSAC) does not reflect the opinion of XXX (insert name).<sup>81</sup>

# Department of Health and Ageing

1.73 In his initial correspondence with the Committee, Dr Ware also stated that the Department 'submitted, and then failed to retract, false information in response to a question on notice' put during Community Affairs Senate Legislation Committee proceedings. Additionally Dr Ware stated that Department officers had engaged in dishonesty in response to questions about the formulation and conduct of the Commonwealth's policy towards PET. 83

### 1.74 During his evidence Dr Ware alleged:

I believe these documents will also provide you with irrefutable evidence that the Department of Health and Ageing has breached the Australian Public Service Code of Conduct<sup>84</sup> by providing false and misleading information to this committee on multiple occasions. Even though senior department officers were made aware of these material errors of fact, no action has been taken to correct the public record...<sup>85</sup>

\_

<sup>79</sup> Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 3.9.07, p. 3.

Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 3.9.07, p. 3.

Department of Health and Ageing, answer to question on notice 10, 14.6.07 hearing (dated 3.9.07).

<sup>82</sup> Correspondence, Dr Robert Ware, dated 26.1.06, p. 1.

<sup>83</sup> Correspondence, Dr Robert Ware, dated 26.1.06, p. 10.

The *Public Service Act* 1999 s. 13 outlines the APS Code of Conduct. The Code provides that an 'APS employee must not provide false or misleading information in response to a request for information that is made for official purposes in connection with the employee's APS employment'.

<sup>85</sup> *Committee Hansard*, 30.3.07, p. 3 (Dr Robert Ware).

- 1.75 Dr Ware highlighted the answers the Department had provided to a Question on Notice from Senator Harradine on 5 November 2003.
  - (a) Did the Scientific Supporting Committee in its report find that PET scanning was clinically effective and possibly cost effective?
  - (b) Why were the expert opinions ignored in the final decision?
  - (c) Is it correct that a specialist from the Peter MacCallum Clinic wrote to the Chair of Scientific Supporting Committee and the chair of the Medical Services Advisory Committee (MSAC) requesting that his name be removed from any connection with MSAC's downgrading of the Scientific Supporting Committee's report?

### The Department responded:

- (a) No. Supporting Committees of the Medical Services Advisory Committee (MSAC) do not make findings. Neither do Supporting Committees make reports, this being the responsibility of MSAC. Some members of the Supporting Committee did provide separate written advice to MSAC and this advice made stronger claims about the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of PET than those of MSAC's findings.
- (b) Expert opinions were not ignored in the final decision. However, MSAC's recommendations in relation to PET were primarily based on analysis of the evidence from the international scientific literature, not individual clinical opinion.
- (c) A specialist from Peter MacCallum Cancer Institute (also a member of MSAC PET Supporting Committee) wrote to the Secretary for the Department of health and Ageing on 5 December 2003, referring to his letter dated 2 April 2003, which he noted had not been sent at that time due to an administrative error within his office. In the April letter, he requested that, in the absence of specific changes to the 2000 report of the Review of positron emission tomography, and the associated MSAC report, his name be removed from those documents.

This specialist was one of seven clinicians on the PET supporting committee, which also included representatives of MSAC and the Department. As is typical of an MSAC review process, the supporting committee's members expressed a range of views in the course of the committee's deliberations. However, no committee member other than the specialist in question made a formal statement of dissent in relation to the PET review's findings. <sup>86</sup>

1.76 The Department rejected Dr Ware's allegations concerning the conduct of Departmental officers during this matter stating that 'all Departmental officers have acted with integrity and professionalism in dealing with this controversial and difficult

Senate Community Affairs Committee, Additional information received, Volume 6, Index and Answers to Estimates Questions on Notice, Health and Ageing Portfolio, Supplementary Budget Estimates 2003-2004, 5 November 2003, pp. 168-7 (E03-045).

issue'. <sup>87</sup> The Department stated it had 'made every effort to ensure that the secretariat support provided to MSAC is professional and that record keeping for the MSAC Committee is accurate'. However the Department also noted that:

In responding to the queries of Dr Ware, Professor Hicks and members of this Committee, it has become apparent that the quality of minute taking at the time was not what it should have been. Further, over the years there have been instances where the Department has supplied incorrect documents in response to these queries, in large part due to the confusion in nomenclature of the various parts of the process for that 1999 assessment.<sup>88</sup>

1.77 The Committee finds that the Department did not act with integrity and professionalism at all times as their own admissions regarding answers to questions from Senator Harradine, provision of incorrect documents and inadequate minute taking indicate. Furthermore the letter to the Committee from Secretary Halton dated 19 February 2008 provided false information to the Committee.

# The role of MSAC

- 1.78 During the hearing on 30 March 2007 there was discussion regarding possible reform of MSAC. In May 2004, MSAC undertook a review of its procedures and methods in order to identify opportunities to improve approaches to, and management of, the assessment of health technologies. In November 2004, MSAC agreed to implement a number of actions which were developed using ideas contained in many of the submissions, and which fitted within its terms of reference. The review was completed in May 2005. 89
- 1.79 However Dr Ware argued for further reforms to MSAC which he stated 'needs to be under legislative control'. He quoted from the Australian Medical Association submission to the MSAC review to highlight his concerns:

Until MSAC is established on a similar footing to PBAC [Pharmaceutical Benefits Advisory Committee], it will not enjoy the confidence of the medical profession. The establishment of MSAC was an attempt to establish a more independent body at arm's-length from the government. MSAC is not established independently of the department or the government. Its agenda in relation to existing MBS items is almost exclusively determined by the department and its secretariat. It is made up of departmental officers with line responsibility to senior departmental officers. The relationships between the department and the MSAC secretariat and MSAC itself are unclear.

Partment of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 19.2.08, p. 4.

Department of Health and Ageing, Additional information dated 3.9.07, pp. 3-4.

<sup>89</sup> MSAC, Report of a Review of the Medical Services Advisory Committee, May 2005.

<sup>90</sup> *Committee Hansard*, 30.03.07, p. 16 (Dr Robert Ware).

1.80 In the review report MSAC agreed to a number of reforms to improve the transparency of MSAC assessment processes. These included developing 'a presentation and associated material that will provide clear, consistent direction to Advisory Panels [Supporting Committees] about the roles and responsibilities of panel members, as well as the contracted evaluators and the department'. However the report does not appear to address the relationship between MSAC and the Department and the issue of the independence of evidence-based advice.

### **CONCLUSION**

- 1.81 As previously stated the Committee's interest in this matter related to whether the practices and procedures used in assessing PET were appropriate and whether false information had been provided during estimates proceedings.
- 1.82 In the opinion of the Committee, no evidence was provided to support or disprove the contention that there was inappropriate intervention by the Minister into the MSAC assessment of PET. However minutes of the Executive meeting of MSAC dated 30 March 2000 were provided to the Committee. The Minutes indicate that the original Supporting Committee report was approved and that Dr King was congratulated for concluding a difficult task. It was stated that the original Supporting Committee report would be provided to MSAC for endorsement but also to the Steering Committee to inform its discussions. The meeting included MSAC's Chair, Dr Kearney and Messrs King, Primrose and Alan Keith. There was no mention of inconsistency of findings or problems with the report. Changes were made to the original Supporting Committee report by the Steering Committee which conflicted with what had been presented to the Executive. These clearly were material enough to mislead the medical professionals on MSAC as to the clinical value of PET.
- 1.83 The Committee finds that MSAC was unaware that the recommendations it adopted with respect to the clinical value of PET were not the true findings of the Supporting Committee.
- 1.84 The Committee finds that MSAC's decision was therefore made without knowledge of the true Supporting committee recommendation.
- 1.85 The Committee does not accept the argument that because MSAC was not obliged to accept the reports and recommendations of the PET Supporting Committee, the content of the true Supporting committee report was immaterial to the outcome of MSAC's decision making process.
- 1.86 However the issues raised by Dr Ware and Professor Hicks highlight the importance of ensuring the independence of scientific and technical evidence based assessments of new medical technologies. Allowing the Supporting Committee's report to be viewed and altered by the Steering Committee, and by officers from the

<sup>91</sup> MSAC, Report of a Review of the Medical Services Advisory Committee, May 2005, p. 32.

Department, invited questions of impropriety into an assessment process which was held up as being based wholly on scientific and technical evidence. This situation was compounded by the fact that members of the Supporting Committee had no notification that changes were being made or the opportunity to have their dissent to the changes recorded.

- 1.87 The Committee also notes that in the previously outlined stages of the assessment process, MSAC in formulating recommendations to the Minister, considers 'a range of information' including 'the assessment report and any feedback on the report received from the MSAC applicant...'. The Committee understands that conflicts of interest regarding developing medical technologies are common and, in many instances, unavoidable given the relatively small pool of clinical expertise in Australia. In future, it would be preferable if applicants to MSAC in relation to a new medical technology were not invited to participate as part of the Supporting Committee assessing the technology.
- 1.88 The Committee has noted the review of MSAC assessment processes and the reforms to improve the transparency of MSAC decisions. This review does not appear to have considered the specific issue of the independence of MSAC advice from the Minister or the Department. Arguments were put to the Committee that MSAC should, like the Pharmaceutical Benefits Advisory Committee (PBAC), be constituted as a statutory body, at arm's length from the Government.
- 1.89 During the hearing on 30 March 2007 a number of allegations were made regarding Associate Professor King in his role as Chair of the Supporting Committee. In essence, these suggest that Assoc. Prof. King was responsible for altering the recommendations of the Supporting Committee regarding PET and/or fraudulently misrepresenting to MSAC that the report was the unaltered recommendations of the Supporting Committee (after it had been altered by the Steering Committee).
- 1.90 As the Chair of the Supporting Committee, Associate Professor King has taken responsibility for the changes that were made by the Steering Committee to the Supporting Committee report recommendations and for presenting them as if they were the original findings of the report. Whilst there has been no evidence presented that Associate Professor King (or anyone else) had any intention to mislead or to deceive MSAC or had any reason for doing anything inappropriate in the changes that were made to the Supporting Committee report by the Steering Committee, there has been no explanation as to who authorised the out of Committee insertion of the Primary Finding into the Supporting Committee report or why they did so. This critical question remains unanswered and would have gone to the heart of the matter had the Committee been able to elicit an answer.
- 1.91 The Committee finds that the recommendations of the Supporting Committee report were changed with the knowledge of Associate Professor King and others.

<sup>92</sup> MSAC, *Annual Report*, April 1998 – June 2000, pp. 14 - 15.

- 1.92 The Committee finds that the Supporting Committee report was changed without the knowledge or consent of the Supporting committee members.
- 1.93 The Committee finds that the "Primary Finding" of MSAC from the 2000 Review of PET conflicts fundamentally with the experts views about the clinical value of PET.
- 1.94 The Committee finds that a majority of the clinical experts on the Supporting Committee decided that PET was clinically effective on the strength of evidence available at that time. The majority disagree with Associate Professor King's claim that:
  - (i) Changes to the supporting Committee recommendations were merely editorial or drafting changes.
  - (ii) And the supporting Committee was not of the view that "there was insufficient evidence".
- 1.95 The Committee finds that MSAC was deprived of the knowledge of the Supporting Committee's true decision about the clinical value of PET and the range of opinions held by the experts regarding the strength of the available evidence.
- 1.96 The Committee finds that it was a fundamental breach of MSAC's due process to allow the recommendations of the Supporting Committee's Report to be altered without the knowledge of its members because that action would deprive MSAC of the opportunity to be properly informed of the opinions held by Supporting Committee members.
- 1.97 The MSAC assessment of PET highlights the dangers of ambiguities arising in the roles and responsibilities of the bodies involved in the review of new medical technologies. The Committee considers that the roles and responsibilities of the Supporting and Steering Committees in the review of PET were not clear. For example the Supporting Committee minutes indicate it agreed 'it was jointly responsible with the Steering Committee for ToR [term of reference] one, assessing the clinical need, safety, clinical effectiveness and cost effectiveness of PET in relation to diagnostic modalities'. The Department has also noted this was a relatively new process with unique circumstances:

....when this matter went through MSAC it was very early days. I think it was the second application that MSAC had ever considered and it was the first one where it had this particular structure of three committees essentially in the main MSAC, a supporting committee and a steering committee. The steering committee, as I say, I think was the first example and it had a particular role which you would not normally find associated with MSAC. <sup>93</sup>

<sup>93</sup> Committee Hansard, 14.6.07, p.22 (Mr David Learmonth, Department of Health and Ageing).

- 1.98 The Department was wrong in its evidence and it was corrected during the hearings. It was the second reference but the 19<sup>th</sup> evaluation that MSAC had done. It was evaluated as a "reference" because the government prevented MSAC from evaluating the original applications. It should be noted in this context that the MSAC guidelines do not specify a different set of standards or rigour for applications and references.
- 1.99 The majority of the Committee consider that it was a mistake for Associate Professor King to agree to the changes to the wording of the recommendations without informing and obtaining the written consent of the rest of the Supporting Committee. It was also a poor procedural decision not to ensure that the changes made were clearly recorded as the Steering Committee's when the draft Supporting Committee report was given to MSAC for its consideration. However these deficiencies in the assessment process could also reflect the quality of the secretariat support by the Department to both the Steering Committee and the MSAC Supporting Committee.
- 1.100 The Committee has considered the matters raised by Dr Ware in relation to the evidence provided by officers of the Department of Health and Ageing. The Committee is concerned about the quality of the responses from the Department to questions on notice during earlier estimates hearings. The answer provided by the Department to Senator Harradine's question on notice (E03-045) is wrong, disingenuous and unhelpful, at best, when considered next to the wording of the report of the MSAC Supporting Committee on 23 March 2000. The Department has always tried to justify its response saying that it was literally correct. It was not. The Department had in its possession documents that demonstrated what the findings of the true Supporting Committee report were that PET was clinically effective.
  - It is not correct to state that Supporting Committee's do not make reports or findings, as demonstrated by the material included in this report.
  - There is no evidence that MSAC were informed that Supporting Committee members held stronger views.
  - The experts' opinions were ignored by MSAC, given there true opinions and findings were altered, without MSAC being aware of that fact.
- 1.101 The Committee notes that the Government Guidelines for Official Witnesses before Parliamentary Committees and Related Material state that it is the duty of the public servants 'to assist ministers to fulfil their accountability obligations by providing full and accurate information to the Parliament about the factual and technical background to policies and their administration'. These guidelines are aimed at encouraging the freest possible flow of such information between the public

service, the Parliament and the public.<sup>94</sup> The Committee is concerned that the Department has not maintained this standard.

1.102 In addition, the Committee wishes to record its disapproval of the conduct of officers of the Department of Health and Ageing when appearing to answer questions on this matter. At the hearing on 14 June 2007, Department officers had not adequately prepared to answer relevant questions from Senators and frequently had to take questions on notice. Delayed responses to the questions taken on notice have made it difficult for the Committee to finalise its deliberations in this matter. Some answers particularly those in answer to Senator Harradine and to the Committee (Ms Halton's letter of 19 February 2008) appear to have been designed to mislead contrary to the duty of public servants as noted above. The Committee considers that it is likely this matter would have been dealt with considerably earlier if the Department of Health and Ageing had been more effective in communicating information, either in response to Senators' questions, in response to freedom of information requests or otherwise.

1.103 The Committee notes the Department now intends to offer Professor Hicks an erratum to appear on the MSAC website. However, given the range of views expressed by the other members of the Supporting Committee, the Committee considers that they should also be offered the opportunity to have their dissent acknowledged.

### **Recommendation 1**

1.104 The MSAC 2000 assessment of PET be withdrawn.

### **Recommendation 2**

1.105 That Department of Health and Ageing and the Medical Services Advisory Committee coordinate to issue a disclaimer or erratum to institutions likely to hold physical or electronic copies of the MSAC Assessment Report: Positron Emission Tomography or the Report of the Review of Positron Emission Tomography to indicate which members of the Supporting Committee did not agree that the final report reflected their views.

### **Recommendation 3**

1.106 MSAC, like the Pharmaceutical Benefits Advisory Committee be constituted as a statutory body at arm's length from government.

### **Recommendation 4**

1.107 The Department be required to provide documentary evidence of who inserted the "Primary Finding" of the 2000 PET Review.

94 Government Guidelines for Official Witnesses before Parliamentary Committees and related material, November 1989, p. 3. Available from <a href="https://www.pmc.gov.au">www.pmc.gov.au</a>.

### **Recommendation 5**

1.108 The Australian Public Sector Commissioner be asked to inquire into, report on and recommend action on the Department's conduct in relation to PET with regard to the APS Code of Conduct and its responsibility to assist Ministers "to fulfil their accountability obligations by providing full and accurate information to the Parliament about the factual and technical background to policies and their administration".

Senator Christine Milne Australian Greens, Tasmania Senator Lyn Allison Australian Democrats, Victoria

# ADDITIONAL COMMENTS

# **By Senator Milne**

The Committee's Inquiry into the PET Matter has ascertained that;

- the report agreed to by the expert medical Supporting Committee for the 2000 PET review contained the recommendation that PET was clinically effective:
- A majority of the Supporting Committee members when asked by the Senate Committee confirmed they had decided at the time that PET was "clinically effective";
- The report of the Supporting was altered without their agreement by insertion of the words;

The MSAC Supporting Committee concludes that:

"there is insufficient evidence at this time from which to draw definitive conclusions about the clinical effectiveness and cost effectiveness of PET";

and

"potentially"

downgrading the Supporting Committee's conclusion to "potentially clinically effective";

- MSAC was not provided with the original Supporting Committee report, instead it was provided with the altered document, but was not told or given any indication the document was not the genuine report of the Supporting Committee;
- MSAC adopted the altered document in the belief it had adopted the true conclusions, report and recommendations of its Supporting Committee;
- The Minister accepted and authorised the publication of the report of MSAC along with the names of the Supporting Committee members;
- The MSAC report is represented as a "systematic review" or "level 1" knowledge about the patient benefits of PET
- The Commonwealth and at least one State Government has used the MSAC report as the basis for healthcare policy;
- The MSAC Report has been used as evidence by Government's in several countries including New Zealand and Canada;
- The finding that

there is insufficient evidence at this time from which to draw definitive conclusions about the clinical effectiveness and cost effectiveness of PET has been dubbed the "primary finding"

• The "primary finding" has been used by the Australian government to cast doubt on the clinical value of PET, calling it an "unproven technology";

• All attempts to have the MSAC report corrected to reflect the fact that the Supporting Committee were never told of the changes and never agreed to them have been rejected by MSAC and the Government.

Does it matter to cancer patients or the Australian community that the Supporting Committee report was changed and that MSAC accepted an altered report? Has it affected medical treatment?

The impact of the MSAC report has been that:

- cancer patients around Australia have been denied knowledge that PET is safe and clinically effective.
- governments around Australia have not provided adequate resources to give patients the access they need to PET's treatment benefits. Because the report deemed that PET was not clinically effective then the federal government set about collecting data to assess that effectiveness. Evidence which the Supporting Committee argued was available in 2000.A small number of centres were contracted to do the data collection and the work at those centres qualified for a Medicare rebate. PET scans in other centres not contracted for data collection were only eligible for the rebate for three indications until recently when the number was increased to six. This has made the provision of PET scans in those centres and regions uneconomic forcing patients to go to capital city centres or in the case of Tasmania to Melbourne. The data collection covered only about 40% of the indications that PET was thought to be valuable for in 2000 and the subsequent "open" Medicare rebate is provided for a small fraction of that 40%.
- It has mattered to the experts in the Supporting Committee as well as they have not been able to have their names removed from a report which they did not agree to. I am pleased that at last that has been remedied with the erratum.
- The delay in acceptance that PET is safe and clinically effective thus requiring data collection long after clinical effectiveness was proven has slowed down the roll out of this technology across Australia and its availability to patients. This can only be seen a complete failure of government to respond to the urgent and compelling needs of cancer patients and has resulted in greater suffering.

### **Could it have been avoided?**

# The process and procedures for deciding the clinical value of PET

It should be noted that Professor Kearney and Professor King were common members to all Committees including the MSAC Committee. They, together with Dr Primrose (Secretariat) are the people who throughout the process saw the documents and reports and would have therefore been aware of the altered Supporting Committee report.

### **Steering Committee members**

Professor Brendon Kearney, Chair

Dr Geoff Bower, Australian and New Zealand Association of Physicians in Nuclear Medicine

Dr George Klempfner, Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Radiologists

Dr Gabrielle Cehic, Royal Australasian College of Physicians

Mr Clive Deverall, Consumers' Health Forum

Dr Richard King, Ex officio member—Medicare Services Advisory Committee

Associate Professor Stephen Boyages, States and Territories representative

Professor Michael Quinlan, States and Territories representative

### Mr Alan Keith, Department of Health and Aged Care

Dr John Primrose, Department of Health and Aged Care.

### Supporting Committee to assess PET

Dr Richard King, Chair

Professor Brendon Kearney, Ex officio member—Chair of Review Steering Committee

Dr Rodney Hicks, Australian and New Zealand Association of Physicians in Nuclear Medicine

Dr Ken Miles, Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Radiologists

Associate Professor Andrew Scott, Australian and New Zealand

Association of Physicians in Nuclear Medicine

Associate Professor Michael Fulham, Australian Association of Neurologists

Professor Robert Thomas, Royal Australasian College of Surgeons

Dr Michael Millward, Royal Australasian College of Physicians

Dr Michael Kitchener, Medicare Services Advisory Committee

Associate Professor Richmond Jeremy, Cardiac Society of Australia and New Zealand

Dr John Primrose, Department of Health and Aged Care

### MSAC Committee

Member	Expertise		
Professor David Weedon (Chair)	pathology		
Ms Hilda Bastian	consumer health issues		
Dr Ross Blair	vascular surgery (New Zealand)		
Mr Stephen Blamey	general surgery		
Dr Paul Hemming	general practice		
Dr Terri Jackson	health economics		
Professor Brendon Kearney	health administration and planning		
Dr Richard King	gastroenterology		
Dr Michael Kitchener	nuclear medicine		
Professor Peter Phelan	paediatrics		
Dr David Robinson	plastic surgery		
Mr Alan Keith	Assistant Secretary of the Diagnostics and		
	Technology Branch of the Commonwealth		
	Department of Health and Aged Care		
Associate Professor John Simes	clinical epidemiology and clinical trials		
Professor Bryant Stokes	neurological surgery, representing the		

Australian Health Ministers' Advisory

Council (from 1/1/99)

In October 1999 at the first Steering Committee meeting minutes indicate that:

Professor Kearney noted that should the technical evaluation of PET prove inconclusive, some sort of data collection regime would be a reasonable condition for wider introduction of PET.

At the second Steering Committee Meeting 27 January 2000 Kearney was minuted as saying that the Committee:

"prepare itself for the possibility that the MSAC Supporting Committee report [would find] that the evidence for PET is not sufficient to warrant widespread dissemination of the technology. In which case, it was likely that the status quo would be retained, or a very minimal roll-out may be recommended".

This statement was made before the Supporting Committee had even begun to discuss the evidence, which occurred 14 February 2000.

Thus the Chair of the Ministerially appointed Steering Committee was already warning of what the acceptable outcomes might be before evidence was considered.

What followed was a process for deciding the clinical value of PET, known as the PET Review 2000 and it was fundamentally flawed.

MSAC believed it had adopted the true recommendation of its Supporting Committee.

In fact, MSAC adopted a recommendation about PET that conflicted fundamentally with the decision of the experts it had asked to examine the evidence and to provide advice on the value of PET in the context of contemporary Australian medical practice.

This failure could have been avoided if MSAC's operating guidelines had been observed. If the dissent provisions had been followed, the altered report could not have been sent to MSAC without the approval of the Supporting Committee members, and the right to dissent would have been afforded.

Several of the Supporting Committee members have indicated that they may have, or would have, dissented with respect to the altered report that was presented to MSAC in their names, if they had known about the alterations and had been offered the opportunity to dissent.

The failure could have been avoided if the MSAC members who were party to the altering the Supporting Committee's report and then presenting it to other MSAC members as if were the genuine article had alerted MSAC. MSAC should have been told that alterations had been made, identified the author(s) of the alterations and the logic for making those alterations. That action would have ensured compliance with the honest, open and transparent process that MSAC assures the public is followed. That action would have given MSAC members opportunity to seek further clarification from the Supporting Committee members, before making their own decision on the merits of the information provided.

The failure to alert Supporting Committee and MSAC members to the alterations could only be justified if the alterations were not material. Associate Professor King argued that the alterations were merely editorial to make the document read more logically and to clarify the true decisions and intent of the Supporting Committee.

### Friday, 30 March 2007 Senate CA 39

**Prof. King**—Their firm view was that there was insufficient evidence on PET's clinical or cost effectiveness. How can you then have a firm view that PET is clinically effective?

### CA 42 Senate Friday, 30 March 2007

**Senator POLLEY**—Is it possible for you to advise us as to who made the recommendation to change the wording of the supporting committee's report?

**Prof. King**—I have already said that. It was made by agreement with the ministerial review committee.

**Senator PATTERSON**—Let me ask a hypothetical question. If the two recommendations that the supporting committee had in their report had appeared in the PET review as is, would the outcome have been any different?

Prof. King—No.

The majority conclusions appear to accept the evidence of the Department and Associate Professor King that the alterations would not have influenced MSAC's decision making as follows; "there has been no evidence presented that would indicate that the MSAC decision regarding PET turned on any amendments made to the Supporting Committee's report." However, the Standing Committee does have evidence that invalidates their conclusion. Associate Professor Richard King and Professor Brendon have made clear their belief that the MSAC decision regarding PET "turned on" the amendments to the Supporting Committee's report.

Associate Professor King wrote: "I am proud of what I did to help PET scanning through the MSAC process as has been reinforced by Professor Kearney, without the changes made by the Steering Committee to the Supporting Committee's report it almost certainly would not have got up in MSAC at that time as the evidence was poor"

Professor Kearney wrote: "I supported Dr King in presenting to MSAC a report that allowed MSAC to approve a positive recommendation on PET"

So both Associate Professor King and Professor Kearney were party to the alterations and believed MSAC would have made a different recommendation if the true Supporting Committee report had been tabled.

Irrespective of the inference that their actions achieved a good outcome for the community through a "positive recommendation" despite what they regarded as only "poor" evidence for PET, it was not honest and ethical to let MSAC members think they were endorsing the true Supporting Committee report. This evidence also casts doubt upon the validity of the majority Standing Committee conclusion that:

"there has been no evidence presented that Assoc. Prof. King (or anyone else) had any intention to mislead or to deceive MSAC or had any reason for doing anything inappropriate in the changes that were made to the Supporting Committee report by the Steering Committee."

The majority report also appears to accept that the Steering (Ministerial) Committee made the changes to the Supporting Committee report and that the action was justified as it was a "superior committee".

There are number of significant problems with the majority position.

- 1. If the Steering Committee had authorized the alterations, the document presented to MSAC ought to be found in the records of the Steering Committee. That document is not to be found.
- 2. If the Steering Committee was a "superior committee' and authorized to make changes to an MSAC Committee draft document, it would still have been improper and wrong to have that document passed off as document of the Supporting Committee. Yet, not only was the document presented to MSAC headed as if it were a genuine MSAC Supporting Committee document, the insertion of the "primary finding" was prefaced by the words "The MSAC Supporting Committee concludes that". These actions clearly had a high risk of misleading MSAC
- 3. If the Steering Committee had authored the "primary finding" that MSAC unwittingly accepted as conclusion of its Supporting Committee, it would have been dishonest for the Steering Committee to report to the Minister that:

### **Term of Reference 1**

To assess, in conjunction with MSAC and the profession, and with reference to available sources of evidence, the cost effectiveness, clinical effectiveness and safety of PET.

especially in relation to other diagnostic modalities.

### General findings

- 1. The Review Steering Committee accepts MSAC's conclusions that:
- 1.1 there is insufficient evidence at this time from which to draw definitive conclusions about the clinical effectiveness and cost effectiveness of PET;
- 4. The Steering Committee was a unique event in the history of MSAC assessments, established at the request of the Minister because of the concerns over the potential expense of PET to the Commonwealth. If the Steering Committee had made the most important determination of the MSAC scientific report about the clinical value of PET without MSAC's knowledge, it is difficult to sustain the argument that there was no evidence of improper interference in MSAC's affairs. Yet the majority report concludes that;

no evidence was provided to support the contention that there was inappropriate intervention by the Minister or Department officials into the MSAC assessment of PET.

Until the circumstances in which the "primary finding" was inserted into the record of the 2000 PET review, it is impossible to reach a conclusion on the question of whether there was inappropriate Departmental or Government intervention into the MSAC assessment of PET.

### Misleading or false evidence

With respect to the allegation of false evidence, I conclude that the Department's answers to Senator Harradine's question E03-045 were false and misleading, and that subsequent answers given the Standing Committee Hearing on the issue of honesty and accuracy of the answer to E03-045 are false and misleading.

### Senator Harradine asked on notice;

"Did the Scientific Supporting Committee in its report find that PET scanning was clinically effective and possibly cost effective?

The only honest and accurate answer to the question was "Yes". The Department submitted the contrary answer to the Parliament as follows;

"No. Supporting Committees of Medical Services Advisory Committees do not make findings. Neither do MSAC Supporting Committees make reports, that being the responsibility of MSAC."

The issue of the true findings of the Supporting Committee had been brought to the attention of the Department on multiple occasions since the MSAC report was published.

The Department was given the opportunity at public hearings in April 2006 and June 2007 to reconsider the honesty and accuracy of the information it provided to the Parliament. The Department's response on both occasions was effectively that it had provided the correct response to the different question of who is responsible for providing a report to the Minister.

### Thursday, 14 June 2007 Senate CA 41

**Mr Learmonth**...It appears to me that the answer is directed to the report proper which goes from MSAC to the minister—which, again, is the province of MSAC, not the supporting committee.

### Thursday, 14 June 2007 Senate CA 41

**Mr Learmonth**—.....the answer was nothing to do with the substance of whether or not PET was clinically cost-effective and everything to do with whether or not the supporting committee made findings and recommendations.

The Department's answer that Supporting Committee's of MSAC do not make findings or reports cannot be substantiated on the basis of the many MSAC documents presented in evidence to the Standing Committee, or the Department's evidence at the public hearings

### Thursday, 14 June 2007 Senate CA 29

**Mr Woodley**—There were guidelines.

**Senator MILNE**—Yes, and what did they say about the rights of the supporting member to dissent?

**Mr Woodley**—I will read from the documentation I have got in front of me. Section 7.5 of MSAC's operating guidelines state:

In reporting to MSAC on its evaluation of an application, the supporting committee's report should note whether or not all supporting committee members were in agreement with the supporting committee's report. If not, the name of the supporting committee member(s) and

the nature and extent of the dissenting view, should be included in the supporting committee's report. Areas of agreement/disagreement amongst supporting committee members and by whom those views are held should be stated.

This evidence establishes that MSAC requires Supporting Committees to make reports to the point of stipulating what those reports ought to contain.

It is therefore reasonable to assume MSAC regards these reports to be crucial to its decision making process, even though MSAC decides the content and makes the report to the Minister in its name.

### Does it matter that misleading evidence was given or obfuscation occurred?

The Senate's Privilege Resolutions set out actions by witnesses which may have the tendency or effect of obstructing the Senate or its committees in conducting inquiries, and which may therefore be treated as contempt. These offences include giving false or misleading evidence.

The APS Code of Conduct requires that an employee must not provide false or misleading information in response to a request for information that is made for official purposes in connection with the employee's APS employment.

The APS Commissioner's Guide to Official Conduct for APS Employees and Agency Heads states:

APS officers must be honest and professional.

Answers to questions from Parliament or its Committees must always be accurate and inadvertent errors must be corrected quickly.

Therefore, the provision of false and misleading information in request to Question E03-045 and in response to the Committees attempts to clarify the matter must be regarded as a serious matter.

On the balance of probabilities I consider that the Department answers intended to mislead or obfuscate and can fairly be descried as an attempt to prevent the Committee from scrutinizing the Government's actions.

There are more recent examples where the Department has given false and misleading information to the Committee. The Department Secretary has acknowledged that she provided the committee with erroneous information 19 February 2008 in response to a request for information from the Standing Committee of October 2007. Given that the erroneous statement was the justification for the Department's claims that the changes to the Supporting Committee report would not have changed MSAC's conclusions about the clinical effectiveness of PET, I do not agree that the false information provided is of no consequence, either in the context of the Committee's responsibility to the public or the Committee's decision making process in relation to the PET matter.

It is for that reason that I recommend that the APS Commissioner be asked to investigate the matter of the Department's compliance with the Public Service Act with respect to the PET matter, and report to the Senate with respect to culpability and appropriate action.

#### Conclusion

The Committee has been provided with considerable evidence that the process followed in deciding the clinical value of PET during the 2000 PET review was not sound. The Senate has not been facilitated in its efforts to determine exactly what happened.

Obfuscation, errors and misleading evidence have certainly delayed recognition that 2000 PET review had serious problems, and has ultimately prevented this Senate Inquiry from determining the critical question of the authorship of the "primary finding" after more than 2 years of trying.

Although the Committee did not have the expertise to decide itself about the clinical value of PET, that aspect has eventually been agreed by MSAC. PET is now recognised for its effectiveness in preventing unnecessary treatments and investigations that increase the suffering of cancer patients for no patient benefit in a large number of cases.

It has been agreed by MSAC that PET is not just cost-effective, the technology probably decreases the cost of care in some common cancer indications.

The Committee is aware that cancer patients are particularly vulnerable to physical, emotional and economic trauma as they attempt to maximise the quality and duration of their lives. The Committee also understand that there is great need for reliable information so that patients and doctors can make the best treatment decisions.

It is of great concern that the external experts and stakeholders who contributed to the 2000 PET review tried very hard, yet failed to achieve recognition of their views that the evidence was more than sufficient to conclude that PET had real clinical value.

The long delay in getting the best information to vulnerable cancer patients is likely to have diminished their ability to help themselves and to have caused a great deal of needless suffering, irrespective of Medicare funding decision. That sad outcome appears to be the opposite of what was promised of MSAC.

Although the allegations that the Government has abused its power and the public's trust for no purpose other than to cover-up important health knowledge has not been proven, that conclusion cannot be ruled out. There was an agenda not to increase Commonwealth spending on PET and to "control" the expansion of the technology, and there was clear evidence of prejudice in relation to the quality of the scientific evidence even before any had been considered.

Senator Christine Milne Australian Greens, Tasmania

# **APPENDIX 1**

# LIST OF PUBLIC AND TABLED DOCUMENTS AUTHORISED FOR PUBLICATION BY THE COMMITTEE

### **Dr Robert Ware**

- 26 January 2006 Original correspondence with Appendixes A and B
- 18 April 2006 Supplementary information to original material, with Attachments A to E
- 28 April 2006 Supplementary documentation provided as part of presentation at public hearing on 28 April 2006
- 13 June 2006 Responses to issues raised at hearing on 28 April 2006
- 1 August 2006 Commenting on DoHA responses to issues raised at hearing on 28 April 2006, with Annexures (9)
- 30 March 2007 Supporting documents (11) provided at hearing on 30 March 2007
- 28 September 2007 Commenting on DoHA responses to issues raised at hearing on 14 June 2007, with Attachments 1 to 13

### **Department of Health and Ageing**

- 29 May 2006 Responses to issues raised at hearing on 28 April 2006
- 3 September 2007 Responses to issues raised at hearing on 14 June 2007
- 17 September 2007 Response to Committee's request for further information
- 19 February 2008 Response to further issues raised by Dr Ware and Professor Hicks
- 16 June 2008 Response to issues raised by Senator Milne relating to comments in DoHA letter dated 19 February 2008 and in an email from Dr Geoff Bower

### **Professor Rodney Hicks**

- 21 June 2006 Providing comment and seeking opportunity to give evidence
- 6 June 2007 Further information and documents following hearing on 30 March 2007
- 29 August 2007 Commenting on Committee's 25 July 2007 letter with Appendix (Proposed operating guidelines, MSAC Supporting Committee)
- 4 October 2007 Commenting on DoHA responses to questions on notice from the 14 June 2007 hearing, with Attachments 1 to 7
- 6 February 2008 Correspondence summarising all issues raised during inquiry

# **Professor Richard King**

- 30 March 2007 Documents (2) tabled at hearing on 30 March 2007: Extracts from minutes
- 9 August 2007 Commenting on Committee's 25 July 2007 letter and providing documents (2) being recommendations from May and August 2001 PET scan subcommittee reports
- 29 May 2008 Response to issues raised by Senator Milne relating to comments in an email from Dr Geoff Bower

# Responses by Supporting Committee Members to Committee's invitation to comment on evidence of Professors Hicks and King

Copy of Committee letter inviting comment on evidence, dated 25 July 2007

Professor Brendon Kearney, dated 15 August 2007

Professor Michael J Fulham, dated19 August 2007

Professor Ken Miles, dated 7 August 2007

Professor Michael Millward, dated 8 August 2007

Dr John Primrose, dated 15 August 2007

Professor Andrew M Scott, dated 12 August 2007

Professor Robert JS Thomas, dated 7 August 2007

### **Senator Christine Milne**

27 April 2008 – Raising issues relating to comments in DoHA letter dated 19 February 2008 with copies of letters from Professor Weedon and Professor King to Professor Hicks dated 15 February and 5 March respectively

13 May 2008 – Copy of email from Dr Geoff Bower dated 2 May 2008

### **Related correspondence**

A/Prof Dale L Bailey, Consultant Physicist, 22 May 2006 – Shares concern about MSAC evaluation of PET effectiveness

A/Prof Victor Kalff, Department of Nuclear Medicine, Alfred Hospital, 1 June 2006–Shares concerns about quality of MSAC's scientific evaluation of PET

Multidisciplinary Lung Cancer Team at the Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre, 27 March 2008 – Inadequate access to PET scanning is compromising the care of lung cancer patients

Multidisciplinary Thoracic Cancer Team at Bendigo Health and the Loddon Mallee Integrated Cancer Service, 14 April 2008 – Support MLCT letter of 27 March 2008

# **APPENDIX 2**

# **Public Hearings**

Friday, 28 April 2006 Parliament House, Canberra

### **Committee Members in attendance**

Senator Gary Humphries (Chair)

Senator Claire Moore (Deputy Chair)

Senator Kerry Nettle

Senator Lyn Allison

Senator Helen Polley

Senator Jan McLucas

Senator Ruth Webber

#### Witnesses

Dr Robert Ware Mr Kenneth Read Ms Bridget Hutton

### **Department of Health and Ageing**

Mr David Learmonth, First Assistant Secretary, Acute Care Division Ms Wynne Hannon, General Counsel, Legal Services Branch Mr Peter Woodley, A/g Assistant Secretary, Diagnostic & Technology Branch

Friday, 30 March 2007 Parliament House, Canberra

### **Committee Members in attendance**

Senator Gary Humphries (Chair)

Senator Claire Moore (Deputy Chair)

Senator Judith Adams

Senator Helen Polley

Senator Carol Brown

### Witnesses

Dr Robert Ware Mr Kenneth Read, Legal adviser to Dr Ware Associate Professor Richard King Professor Rodney Hicks

# Thursday, 14 June 2007 Parliament House, Canberra

### **Committee Members in attendance**

Senator Gary Humphries (Chair) Senator Sue Boyce Senator Claire Moore (Deputy Chair) Senator Christine Milne

Senator Judith Adams Senator the Hon Kay Patterson

Senator Lyn Allison Senator Helen Polley

### Witnesses

# **Professor Rodney Hicks**

# **Department of Health and Ageing**

Mr David Learmonth, Deputy Secretary

Ms Wynne Hannon, General Counsel

Mr Peter Woodley, Assistant Secretary, Diagnostics and Technology Branch

### **INSPECTION**

Wednesday, 22 August 2007 Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre, East Melbourne

### **Committee Members in attendance**

Senator Claire Moore (Deputy Chair)

**Senator Steve Hutchins** 

Senator Christine Milne

Senator Helen Polley

The Committee visited the Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre to discuss and observe the PET technology in operation at the Centre with Professor Rodney Hicks.